arrangements in order to expand our network into target markets.

Any disagreements with our co-development partners or companies with which we have a strategic
alliance could impair or adversely effect our ability to conduct our business. In addition, the bankruptcy
or insolvency of a co-development partner could result in the termination of its agreement with us and
any related right of way agreements. The effect of those terminations or the failure of a co-development
partner to make required capital contributions would have a material adverse effect on us.

We may be unable to obtain access to and interconnection with the facilities of existing local
telephone companies on favorable terms which could delay, increase the cost of or prevent us from
providing local access service in our target markets.

Our ability to provide local access services depends upon our securing access to existing local
telephone companies’ networks, including the physical or virtual collocation of our equipment in the
existing local telephone companies’ central offices in our target markets.

Challenges we may face in obtaining central office space from the existing local telephone companies
include:

» limitations on the availability of central office space in high demand target markets where other
competitive telecommunications companies are seeking or have obtained central office space to
offer services;

» delays when existing local telephone companies fail to promptly address our requests for central
office space; and '

+ expenditure of time and money to pursue negotiations, regulatory disputes, and legal actions for
resolution of disputes regarding lack of sufficient central office space.

We expect that these challenges may delay our attempts to obtain central office space, which would
slow down our deployment of our network and our ability to increase the number of our customers.

If existing local telephone companies on whom we depend for interconnection and other network
elements refuse to cooperate or fail to perform their agreements with us, we may be delayed in or
even prevented from completing our network and offering competitive services to our customers.

We will interconnect with and use existing local telephone companies' networks to provide local
access services to our customers. This strategy presents a number of challenges because we depend on
existing local telephone companies to:

» allow us to use their technology and capabilities of their networks to service our customers;
» cooperate with us to provide and repair facilities; and

» provide the services and network components that we order, for which they depend significantly on
unionized labor. Labor issues have in the past and may in the future hurt the existing local telephone
companies' performance.

Our dependence on existing local telephone companies may cause us to encounter delays in
establishing our network and rolling out our products and services. We must also establish satisfactory
billing and payment arrangements with existing local telephone companies. We may not be able to do
these things in a manner that will allow us to retain and grow our customer base.
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If the quality, availability and maintenance of existing local telephone companies’ networks is
unsatisfactory, our network may not be sufficiently available or reliable to meet our business plan
or customer expectations.

We may not be able to obtain the facilities and the services we need from existing local telephone
companies at satisfactory quality levels, rates, terms and conditions. Our inability to do so could delay
the expansion of our network and degrade the quality of our services to our customers.

Wireless path failures or cable cuts on our network could interfere with our network operations,
damage our relationships with our customers or expose us to liability.

We do not have route diversity on our digital network to maintain services if a wireless path failure
or fiber cable cut occurs. If we were to suffer a deterioration in the perceived quality or reliability of our
service as a result of a path failure, cable cut, or other network outage, our customer relations would be
materially adversely affected and we could be exposed to liability claims.

Risks Relating to Our Industry

Our business and industry are very competitive and increased competition could require us to
lower our prices or provide more expensive service that would adversely affect our financial
performance.

The telecommunications industry is extremely competitive, particularly with regard to price and
service. Many of our existing and potential competitors have significantly greater financial, personnel,
marketing and other resources than we do. For example, some of our competitors have already made
substantial long-term investments in the construction of wireless and fiber optic networks and the
acquisition of bandwidth. Many of our competitors also have the added competitive advantage of an
established network and existing customer base. For example, some communications carriers and local
cable companies have extensive networks in place that could be upgraded to fiber optic cable. Those
companies also have more employees and more substantial capital resources to begin those upgrades.
If communications carriers and local cable companies decide to equip their existing networks with fiber
optic cable, they could become significant competitors of ours in a short period of time.

If we encounter increased competition from existing and future telecommunications systems on
routes where we plan to provide infrastructure services and wholesale transport services, we may
be unable to compete effectively for those services or we may need to reduce our prices in a
manner that adversely affects our financial performance.

Other companies may choose to compete with us in our current or planned markets by selling or
leasing network assets or wholesale transport services to our targeted customers. This competition could
have a material adverse effect on our business. Our competitors for these products and services include:

* long distance companies, such as AT&T Corp., MCI WorldCom, Inc. and Sprint Corporation;

» wholesale providers, such as Qwest Communications International Inc., Williams Communications
Group, Inc., IXC Communications, Inc., DTI Holdings, Inc., Global Crossing Ltd. and Level 3
Communications, Inc.;
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» existing local telephone companies, such as US West, BellSouth, Bell Atlantic, SBC and GTE
Corporation, which currently dominate their local telecommunications markets and have sought or
may soon seek or obtain authority to provide long distance services in their local markets;

= competitive telecommunications companies often referred to as such as GST Telecommunications,
Inc., ITC/Deltacom, Inc. and Metromedia Fiber Network, Inc.; and

» potential competitors capable of offering services similar to those we offer, such as communications
service providers, cable television companies, electric utilities, microwave carriers, satellite carriers,
wireless telephone operators and large end users with private networks.

Additional competition from local telephone companies or other telecommunications service
providers as they begin to provide or expand their local access services in the markets that we
have targeted, may prevent us from achieving our sales goals.

Our principal competitor in the provision of local access services in each of our markets is the
existing local telephone company. Although recent federal legislation and rule-making proceedings
afford us increased opportunities to compete in providing these services, some aspects of these
proceedings also benefit existing local telephone companies. Potential changes in the regulation of
telecommunications services could deprive us of some competitive advantages that we now enjoy, which
could harm our business.

In addition to the existing local telephone companies, other telecommunications service providers,
such as Covad Communications Group, Inc., NorthPoint Communications Group, Inc. and Rhythms
Netconnections, Inc., have recently begun providing some local services. Other competitors and potential
entrants in the market for the provision of these services include long distance companies, cable
television companies, electric utilities, microwave carriers, wireless telephone system operators, data
service companies and operators of private networks. Significant new competitors also could enter the
local market through consolidation and strategic alliances in the industry, foreign carriers being allowed
to compete in the U.S. market, technological advances, and further deregulation and other regulatory
initiatives. The introduction of any of these new competitors into our markets for local services could
materially and adversely affect our business. See "BUSINESS — Competition.”

We do not plan to offer a broad range of products or services in the immediate future, and this
limitation could increase our vulnerability to changing trends in our industry or increased
competition. At the same time, our future success will depend on growth in the demand for local
access services we plan to continue to offer.

We have planned to undertake only a narrow scope of activities in the immediate future, which could
limit potential revenues and result in lower revenues than competitors who now provide a wide range
of services. Although we have recently commenced marketing local access services to
telecommunications service providers, we cannot assure you that we will be successful in entering this
business. If the markets for these services fail to develop, grow more slowly than anticipated or become
saturated with competitors, our business prospects, operating results and financial condition could be
materially adversely affected.

Our product and service offerings are subject to risks of industry over-capacity and resulting
downward pricing pressures.
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Since shortly after the AT&T divestiture in 1984, the long distance transmission industry generally
has experienced over-capacity and declining prices. These trends have exerted downward pricing
pressures on a number of telecommunications services, including our wholesale transport services, and
we anticipate that prices for these services will continue to decline over the next several years because:

» existing long distance carriers and potential new carriers are constructing new fiber optic and other
long distance transmission networks;

» regulatory changes may permit the existing local telephone companies to provide long-distance
services out-of-region;

« expansion and new construction of transmission networks, particularly fiber optic cable networks,
are likely to create substantial excess capacity relative to demand in the short or medium term; and

» recent technological advances may greatly expand the capacity of existing and new fiber optic cable.

Dramatic and substantial price reductions in the long distance industry could require us to reduce our
prices significantly or to revise the mix of products and services we plan to offer. Either of these results
could adversely affect our business. Also, an increase in the capacity of any of our competitors to provide
transport services could adversely affect our business even if we are also able to increase our capacity.

Increased supply of fiber optic cable in the industry may lead to lower prices.

The supply of fiber optic cable that is already buried in conduits but has none of the associated
transmission electronics installed has increased, resulting in downward pricing-pressure on sales of fiber
optic strands. The FCC recently issued an order requiring existing local telephone companies to make
inactive fiber optic strands and other transport facilities available to other telecommunications carriers
at cost-based nondiscriminatory prices. This requirement could further increase the supply of and
decrease demand for fiber optic strands that we sell, adversely affecting our business, financial condition
and results of operations.

If we fail to recognize or make the investments necessary to keep pace with rapid technological
changes, our services may become less desirable or obsolete and we may face higher costs or be
unable to compete effectively.

The telecommunications industry is characterized by rapid and significant changes in technology. We
cannot predict the effect of technological changes on our business. The introduction of new products or
technologies may reduce the cost or increase the supply of services similar to those that we plan to
provide, or could render those services and our network assets less desirable or even obsolete. As a
result, new entrants in the communications services industry may become our most significant
competitors in the future. These new entrants may not be burdened by an installed base of outdated
equipment and the resulting competition they may provide could have a material adverse effect on our
ability to meet our sales targets.

Risks Relating to Regulation

Regulatory changes could require us to postpone or modify our business plans or deprive us of
the means to establish our network in our target markets.

Communications services are subject to significant regulation at the federal, state and local levels.
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Our business plans require us to exploit new opportunities afforded by recent regulatory changes.
However, the regulatory environment could adversely affect us in a number of ways, including:

+ delays in receiving required regulatory approvals or the imposition of onerous conditions for these
approvals;

« difficulties in completing and obtaining regulatory approval of interconnection agreements with
existing local telephone companies; and

+ enactment of new and adverse legislation or regulatory requirements or changes in the interpretation
of existing laws or regulations.

Many regulatory proceedings regarding issues that are important to our business are currently
underway or are being contemplated by federal and state authorities. Changes in regulations or future
regulations adopted by federal, state or local regulators, or other legislative or judicial initiatives relating
to the telecommunications industry could cause our pricing and business maodels to fluctuate dramatically
or otherwise or otherwise have a material adverse effect on us.

The FCC may implement the provisions of the Telecommunications Act of 1996 in a manner that
is adverse to our business plan and strategies.

The Telecommunications Act of 1996 was intended, among other things, to foster competition in the
local telephone market. However, the FCC and the states are still implementing many of its rules and
policies and it remains uncertain how successfully the Telecommunications Act will promote
competition. Moreover, the Telecommunications Act and other recent federal laws regarding the U.S.
telecommunications industry remain subject to judicial review and additional FCC rule-making
proceedings. Our business strategy involves taking advantage of some of the competitive opportunities
advanced by the Telecommunications Act, and the FCC may promulgate regulations implementing the
Telecommunications Act that are adverse to our business.

Our ability to offer long distance companies local access service at competitive rates may be
limited by new regulations and legislative initiatives.

Like most companies in the communications industry, we must comply with many regulatory
requirements. However, unlike some of our competitors, particularly the existing local telephone
companies, we are not currently subject to some of the burdensome regulations federal law imposes on
the telecommunications industry. Our ability to compete in the provision of local access services will
depend upon a continued favorable, pro-competitive regulatory environment. New regulations or
legislation affording greater flexibility and regulatory relief to our competitors could adversely affect us
by increasing competition in the provision of local services.

The FCC is currently considering an industry proposal to restructure the fees that existing local
telephone companies charge long distance companies to use their local networks. These fees are referred
to as access charges. Changes in the access charge structure could fundamentally affect the economic
environment in which we and our customers operate. If the FCC reduces the access charges imposed by
existing local telephone companies, it would significantly reduce our price advantage in the market for
local access services used by long distance companies to access the existing local telephone companies’
local networks.

The FCC is also considering whether to impose limits on certain uses of selected portions of the local
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telecommunications networks, sometimes called "unbundled network elements”, we purchase from the
existing local telephone companies. If the FCC limits our ability to offer long distance companies a
package of unbundled network elements that can be used to reach end users, our ability to offer our local
access services at competitive rates may be harmed.

Pending regulatory initiatives may make it easier for existing local telephone companies and their
affiliates to offer Digital Subscriber Line services to customers in our target markets increasing
the competition that we face for customers seeking these services.

In August 1998, the FCC proposed new rules that would allow existing local telephone companies
to provide Digital Subscriber Line services through separate affiliates not subject to existing local
telephone company regulation. The FCC recently decided some of the other issues raised in that
proceeding, but the question of whether existing local telephone companies can provide unregulated
Digital Subscriber Line services through a separate affiliate remains unresolved. Any decision that would
permit an existing local telephone company affiliate to offer Digital Subscriber Line services without
being subject to regulation imposed on existing local telephone companies could have a material adverse
effect on us by, for example, increasing the competition we face in the provision of Digital Subscriber
Line services.

If we are unable to obtain and maintain the necessary FCC licenses, we may be unable to operate
the wireless portions of our network. -

Portions of our network are wireless, meaning that we provide access services via over-the-air
microwave transmissions instead of through fiber optic cables. Our arrangements with certain of our
wireless co-development partners contemplate that the wireless portion of our digital network will
largely provide "common carrier fixed point-to-point microwave" telecommunications services under
Part 101 of the FCC's rules. These services are subject to regulation by federal, state and local
governmental agencies. Changes in existing laws and regulations governing our provision of these

services could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of
operations.

If we do not accurately predict the cost of complying with Federal and state and other surcharges
on our services we may not accurately anticipate the cost of providing our services to customers,
and our earnings and customer relationships could be adversely affected.

As a telecommunications provider, we must pay a variety of surcharges and fees on our gross
revenues from interstate services and intrastate services. Interstate surcharges include fees for Federal
Universal Service and common carrier obligations, number administration, the provision of
telecornmunications services to the disabled and other miscellaneous FCC requirements. State regulators
impose similar surcharges and fees on intrastate services. The division of our services between interstate
services and intrastate services is a matter of interpretation, and FCC or relevant state commission
authorities may in the future contest how we allocate our charges. If this allocation is changed, qur
payment obligations for the relevant surcharges could increase. Periodic revisions by state and federal
regulators of the applicable surcharges may also increase the surcharges and fees we currently pay.

For more information on these and other risks posed by regulatory initiatives, see "BUSINESS —
Government Regulation.”
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We may be required to register as an investment company, which would subject us to significant
additional regulatory burdens and interfere with our ability to hold investments or raise financing
for our business.

We have, and after the consummation of the contribution and reorganization transaction PTI will
have, substantial cash balances and short-term investments on a consolidated basis. As a result, we may
be considered an "investment company” under the Investment Company Act of 1940. The Investment
Company Act requires companies that are engaged primarily in the business of investing, reinvesting,
owning, holding or trading in securities, or that fail numerical tests regarding composition of assets and
sources of income and that are not primarily engaged in a business other than investing, reinvesting,
owning, holding or trading in securities, to register as "investment companies.” Various substantive
restrictions are imposed on investment companies by the Investment Company Act.

We are primarily engaged in a business other than investing, reinvesting, owning, holding or trading
securities. However, we could be deemed an investment company within the meaning of the Investment
. Company Act. If we are required to register as an investment company under the Investment Company
Act, we would become subject to substantial regulation of our capital structure, management, operations,
transactions with "affiliated persons,” as defined in the Investment Company Act, and other matters. To
avoid having to register as an investment company, we may have to hold a portion of our liquid assets
as cash or government securities instead of as investment securities. Having to register as an investment
company or holding a material portion of our liquid assets as cash or government securities to avoid
registration could have a material adverse effect on us.

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains "forward-looking statements" and information
relating to our business and us that are not historical facts.

We make statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K that are not historical facts. You can
identify these forward-looking statements by our use of terminology such as "believes,” "expects,"

"o

"may,” "will," "should" or "anticipates” or comparable words. These forward-looking statements inciude,
among others, statements concerning:

* Our business strategy and competitive advantages;

» Our anticipated potential revenues from designated markets;

* The growth of the telecommunications industry and our business;

» The markets for our services and products;

» Forecasts of when we will enter particular markets or begin offering particular services;

* Our anticipated capital expenditures and future funding requirements, including the role of vendor
and other sources of financing for equipment and related asset purchases; and

* Anticipated regulatory developments.

These statements are only predictions. You should be aware that these forward-looking statements
are subject to risks and uncertainties, including financial and regulatory developments, industry trends,
and projections that could cause actual events or results to differ materially from those expressed or
implied by the statements. Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or should our
underlying assumptions about them prove incorrect, our actual results, our performance or our proposed
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activities may vary materially from those expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. We
disclose factors that could cause our actual results to differ materially from our descriptions in this "RISK
FACTORS" section and elsewhere in this annual Report on Form 10-K including the sections under the
"MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS,” and "BUSINESS " captions. Please read the entire Annual Report on Form 10-K for a
description of some of these risks, including competitive, financial, developmental, operational,
technical, regulatory and other risks associated with our business. You should not place undue reliance
on the forward-looking statements in this annual Report on Form 10-K, which speak only as of the date
of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We undertake no obligation, and do not intend, to update or revise
any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.
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ITEM7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET
RISK

We are exposed to minimal market risks. We manage sensitivity of our results of operations to these
risks by maintaining a conservative investment portfolio, {(which primarily consists of debt securities,
that typically mature within one year), and entering into long-term debt obligations with appropriate
pricing and terms. We do not hold or issue derivative, derivative commodity or other financial
instruments for trading purposes. Financial instruments held for other than trading purposes do not
impose a material market risk on us.

We are exposed to interest rate risk. We periodically need additional debt financing due to our large
operating losses, and capital expenditures associated with establishing and expanding our network
coverage increase our financing needs. The interest rate that we will be able to obtain on debt financing
will depend on market conditions at that time, and may differ from the rates we have obtained on our
current debt.

Although all of our long-term debt bears fixed interest rates, the fair market value of our fixed
rate long-term debt is sensitive to changes in interest rates. We have no cash flow or earnings exposure
due to market interest rate changes for our fixed long-term debt obligations.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The Company's financial statements and supplementary data, together with the report of the
independent accountants, are included or incorporated by reference elsewhere herein. Reference is made
to the "Index to Financial Statements" following the signature pages hereto.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON
ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.
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PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

Directors and Executive Officers

The table below sets forth certain information concerning the directors and executive officers of the
Company. Directors of the Company are elected at the annual meeting of stockholders. Executive

officers of the Company generally are appointed at the Board of Directors' first meeting after each annual
meeting of stockholders.

Name Age Position(s) with Company

Richard A. Jalkat cooeeieeeeiieeeeeee 55 President, Chief Executive Officer and Director

Robert A. Rouse ... 50 Executive Vice President, Chief Operating
Officer and President, Network Services

James M. Craig ..o 43 Executive Vice President, Chief Financial
Officer and Treasurer

William R. Smedberg, V................... 38 Executive Vice President, Corporate Development

Michael A. Lubin ..o 50 Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary

Shawn F. ODonnell ..............c....... 34 Senior Vice President of Engineering and
Construction

Peter J. Barris ..o 47 Director

Kevin J. Maroni .........cococeeeeevvneneenns 37 Director

Patrick J. Kerins ......cccccoovveenneenene 44 Director

Stephen A. Reinstadtler .................... 33 Director

Richard A. Jalkut has served as President, CEO and director of the Company since August 1997. Mr.
Jalkut has over 30 years of telecommunications experience. From 1995 to August 1997, he served as
President and Group Executive of NYNEX Telecommunications Group, where he was responsible for
all activities of the NYNEX Telecommunications Group, an organization with over 60,000 employees.
From 1991 until 1995, Mr. Jalkut served as President and CEO of New York Telephone Co. Inc., the
predecessor company to NYNEX Telecommunications Group. Mr. Jalkut currently serves as a member
of the board of directors of HSBC Bank USA, a commercial bank; Ikon Office Solutions, Inc., a
company engaged in wholesale and retail office equipment; Digex Incorporated; and Home Wireless
Networks, a start-up company developing a wireless product for home and business premises.

Robert A. Rouse has served as the Company's Executive Vice President, President of Network
Services since April 1999 and, since September 1999, as The Company's Chief Operating Officer. Mr.
Rouse joined the Company with over 30 years experience in the telecommunications industry. Before
joining the Company, from October 1996 to November 1998, Mr. Rouse was Executive Vice President,
Engineering, Systems and Operations of Intermedia, responsible for network services, engineering and
systems. Before that, from October 1986 to October 1996, he served in several positions at MCI
beginning as the Director of New York City Operations and spending the last three as Senior Vice
President of Network Services for MCl/Concert.As Senior Vice President of Network Services, he was
responsible for integrating the network and product functionality between MCI and British Telecom as
well as building global networks. From March 1986 until September 1986, Mr. Rouse served as the
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Regional Vice President for Eastern Operations for US West. In addition, Mr. Rouse spent 17 years,
from June 1969 until March 1986, with Frontier Communications, Inc. where he was involved in a series
of unregulated start-up business ventures, and he played a key role in developing Frontier's long distance
company.

James M. Craig has served as Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer of the
Company since April 1999. Mr. Craig has 22 years of accounting and finance experience, including 15
years specifically in the communications industry. From February 1997 to April 1999, Mr. Craig served
as the Senior Director Treasury Management for Omnipoint Communications, where he was was
responsible for corporate planning and forecasting. In this position, he also served as a point of contact
for investment banks, sell-side analysts and rating agencies. Before that, Mr. Craig assisted in the launch
of two start-up telecommunications companies, from February 1996 to February 1997 at UniSite and
from September 1995 to February 1997 at National Telecom PCS, Inc. While with UniSite, he
established regional and national alliances between UniSite and telecommunications tower owners. Mr.
Craig also spent a total of 11 years, from 1983 to 1995, with MCI, holding positions such as Director
of Wireless Communications, Director of Corporate Development, Director of Telecommunications
Group Planning and Director of Corporate Treasury Group. From 1982 through 1983 and from 1977
through 1980, Mr. Craig served a s a Senior Accountant at the Cowper Group and from 1980 to 1982
he practiced as a certified public accountant with Touche Ross and Co.

William R. Smedberg, V joined the Company initially as a consultant in 1996, served as Vice
President, Finance and Corporate Development of the Company from January 1997 to February 1999
and assumed the position of Executive Vice President, Corporate Development of the Company in
March 1999. Before joining the Company, Mr. Smedberg served as Director, Strategic Planning and
Corporate Development for Jamont, a European consumer products joint venture among Nokia Oy,
Montedison S.p.A. and James River Corporation of Virginia, Inc., from 1991 to 1996, where he was
responsible for Jamont's corporate finance, strategic planning and corporate development.

Michael A. Lubin has served as Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary of the Company since
its inception in August 1995. Before joining the Company, Mr. Lubin was an attorney-at-law at Michael
A. Lubin, P.C., a law firm he founded in 1985. Mr. Lubin has experience in telecommunications,
copyright and intellectual property matters, corporate and commercial law, construction claims
adjudication and trial work. From 1976 until 1981, he served as a Federal prosecutor with the Fraud
Section, Criminal Division, United States Department of Justice.

Shawn O'Donnell has served as Senior Vice President of Engineering and Construction of the
Company since August 1999. Mr. O'Donnell has more than 14 years of engineering experience in the
telecommunications industry. Before joining the Company, Mr. O'Donnell served as Director of
Transmissions and Facility Standards and Engineering with MCI WorldCom from November 1996 to
August 1999. In that position, he was in charge of a 340+ person team that was responsible for overall
transmission and facility engineering for local, long distance and Internet networks. From April 1988
to November 1996, he also held a variety of other positions at MCI WorldCom, including Senior Manger
of Transmission Engineering Implementation and Senior Manager of Switched Network Planning.
Before joining MCI WorldCom, from June 1986 to April 1988, Mr. O'Donnell was a Control Engineer
with Potomac Edison. While there, he was responsible for the management of communications networks
associated with high voltage control systems.
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Peter J. Barris has been a director of the Company since August 1995. Since 1992, Mr. Barris has
been a partner; in 1994, was appointed a General Partner; and, in 1999, was appointed Managing General
Partner of New Enterprise Associates, a firm that manages venture capital investments. Mr. Barris is also
a member of the board of directors of Mobius Management Systems, Inc., PcOrder.com, Inc. and
Careerbuilder, Inc., each of which is quoted on the NASDAQ National Market.

Kevin J. Maroni has been a director of the Company since August 1995. Since 1994, Mr. Maroni has
heen a principal, and, in 1995, was appointed a General Partner of Spectrum Equity Investors, which
manages private equity funds focused on growth capital for Telecommunications companies. Prior to
Spectrum, Mr. Maroni worked at Time Warner and Harvard Management Company. Mr. Maroni is
currently on the board of directors of several private companies and CTC Communications Corp {which
is quoted on the NASDAQ National Market).

Patrick J. Kerins has been a director of the Company since July 1997. Since March 1997, Mr. Kerins
has served as Managing Director of Grotech Capital Group, which is engaged in venture capital and
other private equity investments. From 1887 to March 1997, he worked in the investment banking
division of Alex Brown & Seons, Incorporated, including serving as Managing Director beginning in
January 1994. Mr. Kerins is a member of the board of directors of CD Now, Inc., an online retailer of
compact dises and other music related projects which is quoted on the NASDAQ National Market,

Stephen A. Reinstadtler has been a director of the Company since October 1997. Since August 1995,
M. Reinstadtler has served as Vice President and Director at Teronto Dominion Capital (U.S.A} Inc.,
where he has been involved in private equity and mezzanine debt investments. From April 1994 to July
1995, he was Manager at The Toronto-Dominion Bank, where he was involved in commercial lending
activities to the telecomsunications industry. From August 1992 to April 1994, Mr. Reinstadtier also
served as Associate at Kansallis-Osake-Pankki, where he was invelved in commercial fending activities
to the telecommunications industry.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

We have a compensation committee of our board of directors, which currently consists of two of our
directors, Messrs. Maroni and Barris. Prior to the resignation of Richard Prins from our board of
directors in 1999, we had a three member compensation committee, consisting of Messrs. Maroni, Barris
and Prins. Our compensation committee was established to, among other things, administer our stock
incentive plans, review and make recommendations to the board of directors concerning the
compensation of executive officers, and consider existing and proposed employment agreements
between us and our executive officers.

During the fiscal year ended December 31, 1999, none of our executive officers served as a member
of our compensation committee or as a director of any entity of which any of directors served as an
executive officer. No member of our compensation committee is currently our employee.
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Director Compensation

Currently, our directors do not receive directors’ fees or other compensation and they are not
compensated or reimbursed for their out-of-pocket expenses incurred in serving as directors or for
attending meetings of the board of directors or its committees.

Limitation of Liability and Indemnification
We are incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware.

Section 102(b)(7) of the Delaware General Corporation Law permits a provision in the certificate of
incorporation of each corporation organized thereunder, eliminating or limiting, with certain exceptions,
the personal liability of a director to the corporation or its stockholders for monetary damages for certain
breaches of fiduciary duty as a director.

Our certificate of incorporation limits, to the fullest extent permitted by law, the liability of our
directors to us and our stockholders for monetary damages for breach of their fiduciary duty. This
provision is intended to afford our directors the benefit of the Delaware General Corporation Law. This
limitation on liability does not extend to:

»  Any breach of a director's duty of loyalty to us or our stockholders;

*  Acts or omissions not in good faith or which involve intentional misconduct or a knowing
violation of law;

» Violations of the Delaware General Corporation Law regarding the improper payment of
dividends; or

»  Any transaction from which the director derived any improper personal benefit.

Section 145 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, in summary, empowers a Delaware
corporation, within certain limitations, to indemnify its officers, directors, employees and agents against
expenses (including attorneys' fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement, actually and
reasonably incurred by them in connection with any suit or proceeding other than by or on behalf of the
corporation, if they acted in good faith and in a manner reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to

- the best interest of the corporation, and, with respect to a criminal action or proceeding, had no
reasonable cause to believe their conduct was unlawful.

With respect to actions by or on behalf of the corporation, Section 145 of the Delaware General
Corporation L.aw permits a corporation to indemnify its officers, directors, employees and agents against
expenses (including attorneys' fees) actually and reasonably incurred in connection with the defense or
settlement of such action or suit, provided such person meets the standard of conduct described in the
preceding paragraph, except that no indemnification is permitted in respect of any claim where such
person has been found liable to the corporation, unless the Court of Chancery or the court in which such
action or suit was brought approves such indemnification and determines that such person is fairty and
reasonably entitled to be indemnified.

Qur certificate of incorporation requires us to indemnify our directors and officers to the extent not
prohibited by law for actions or proceedings arising because of their positions as directors or officers.

Our stockholders agreement provides for indemnification of us, our directors and officers, and
persons who control us within the meaning of Section 15 of the Securities Act or Section 20 of the
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Exchange Act for certain liabilities, including liabilities under the Securities Act.

ITEM11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

In addition, Pathnet maintains, and we will maintain, standard directors’ and officers' insurance
policies.

The following table sets forth certain information concerning the cash and non-cash compensation
earned by or awarded to the Chief Executive Officer and each of the six other Named Executive Officers
of the company for services rendered in all capacities in each of the last three fiscal years. The officers
listed in the table below are referred to as the Named Executive Officers:

Long - Term

Compensation
Annuat Other Securities
Compensation * Annual Underlying

Name And Principal Position Year Salary Bonus Compensation * Options Granted **

Richard A. Jalkut 1999 $ 400,000 $300,000 $40,733 (1) - .
President and Chief Executive 1998 400,000 - 40,289(2) - !
Officer 1997 166,154 (3) - 9.857(4) 858,754 :

Michael A. Lubin 1999 135,019 47,120 -- - i
Vice President, General Counsel 1998 136,840 5,000 -- 15,000 |
and Secretary 1997 136,115 -- - --

William R. Smedberg V 1999 182,886 139,000 -- 50,000
Executive Vice President, 1998 111,250 28,267 - 78,656
Corporate Development 1997 100,384 - - -

James M. Craig 1999 122,206 (5) 78,750 - 125,000

Executive Vice President, Chief
Financial Officer and Treasurer

Shawn F. O'Dennell 1999 58,739 (6) 52,300 -- 50,000
Senior Vice President of
Engineering and Construction

Robert A. Rouse 1999 239,276 (7) 133,751 36,943 (8) 350,000
Executive Vice President, Chief
Operating Otficer and President,

Network Services
Kevin J. Bennis 1999 207,138 (9) 27,500 - -
Executive Vice President and 1998 246,353 (10) - 185,602(6) 382,500

President Communications
Services

* %

(1)
2
3

(4)
(5)
(6)

Except as stated herein, none of the above Named Execative Officers received perquisites or other personal |
benefits in excess of the lesser of $50,000 or 10% of such individual's salary plus annual bonus.

We have not issued any stock appreciation rights or long-term incentive plans.

Consists of $7,227 for club dues; $13.368 for lodging; $15,090 for airfare; and $5.048 for other transportation.

Consists of $16,277 for club dues; $7,756 for lodging; $11,685 for airfare; and $4,571 for other transportation.

Mr. Jalkut commenced employment with the Company in August 1997, and was compensated at a rate of $400,000 per

annum in 1997,

Reimbursement for travel expenses.

Mt Craig began his employment with Pathnet on April 19, 1999, and his salary was $175,000 per annum in 1999.

Mr. O'Donnell began his employment with Pathnet on August 9, 1999, and his salary was $150,000 per annum in 1999.
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(7) M. Rouse began his employment with Pathnet on April 26, 1999, and his salary was $325,000 per annum in 1999.

(8)  Reimbursement for moving expenses.

{9)  Mr. Bennis' employment with Pathnet was terminated on September 17, 1999.

{10) Mr. Bennis began his employement with the Company on February 9, 1998 and his salary was $275,000 per annum,

{11) Consists of $48,093 in residence settlement charges in Georgia; $99,319 in residence settlement charges in Virginia;
$22.780 in other moving expenses; and $15,410 inrent.

Stock Option Grants and Exercises

The following table sets forth the aggregate number of stock options granted to each of the Named
Executive Officers during the fiscal year ended December 31, 1999. Stock options are exercisable to
purchase Common Stock of the Company.

Option Grants in Last Fiscal Year

Number of Percent of Potential Realizable Value at
Securities Total Options Assumed Annual Rate of Stock
Underlying Granted to Exercise Price Appreciation for the Option
Options Employees in Price Expiration Term
Granted Fiscal Year $/Share Date 0% 5% 10%
Richard A Jatkut ...cooevreee. -- - % $ - - $ - s - $
Michael A. Lubin ................ - -- - -- - -
William R. Smedberg ......... 50,000 6.88 5.20  5/13/2009 0 163,513 414,373
James M. Craig................... 125,000 17.21 5.20 5/13/2009 0 408,782  1,035933
Shawn F. ODonnell ............ 50,000 6.88 5.20 8/5/2009 0 163,513 414,373
Robert A. Rouse.........c...oou. 350,000 48.18 5.20 5/13/2009 0 1,144,588 2,900,611
Kevin J. Bennis ................... - - - - --
{1) The information disclosed assumes, solely for purposes of demonstrating potential realizable value of the stock

options, that the estimated fair market value per share of Common Stock was $5.20 per share as of December 31,
1999 and increases at the rate indicated during the option term.

2) The options vest ratably over a four year period. The option may be transferred only by will or by the laws of
descent and distribution. Upon a change of control of the Company and termination of optionee’s employment
without cause, the options that would otherwise become vested within one year will be deemed vested immediately
before such optionee’s termination.
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Option Exercises and Fiscal Year-End Option Values

None of the Named Executive Officers exercised any options during the fiscal year ended December
31, 1999. The following table sets forth as of December 31, 1999 the aggregate number of options held
by each of the Named Executive Officers.

Fiscal Year-End Option Values

Shares Number of Securities
Acquired Underlying Unexercised Value of Unexercised In-the-
on Value Options at December 31, 1999 Maoney Options (1)
Name exercise Realized Exercisable  Unexercisable Exercisable Unexercisable
Richard A. Jalkut .............. - -- 572,502 286,252 § 5,630,595 § 2825307
Michael A Lubin............. - -- 145,215 11,250 1,573,621 69,250
William R. Smedberg ........ -- — 58,686 69,970 513,093 492,191
James M. Craig.......ccoeuenne. -- - 0 125,000 0 725,000
Shawn F. O'Donneli ........... - 0 50,000 1) 290,000
Robert A. Rouse.................. - - 0 350,000 0 2,030,000
Kevin j. Bennis ................ 90,625 $894 469 1] 0 0 0
8y Based on an assumed market price of the Common Stock of $11.00 per share as of December 31, 1999.

Schaeffer Board Resignation

In October 1997, Mr. Schaeffer was our employee and was granted an option to purchase 148,418
shares of common stock under our 1997 Plan; the number of shares and ther exercise price were
subsequently adjusted in a stock split. Mr. Schaeffer is no longer an officer or director of the company.
In a letter agreement dated November 4, 1999, in which Mr. Schaeffer resigned from his position as a
director of Pathnet, we and Mr. Schaeffer agreed that Mr. Schaeffer holds options for a total of 107,389
shares of our common stock, which are fully vested at an exercise price of $3.67 per share. P1 will

assume these option grants and convert them to options for shares of its commeon stock at closing of the
Transaction.

Jalkut Employment Agreement

We are currently a party to an employment agreement with Mr. Jalkut. Under this employment
agreement, Mr. Jalkut will receive a minimum annual base salary of $400,000 (or any greater amount
approved by a majority of the board of directors), bonuses and other benefits determined by the board
of directors. Additionally, Mr. Jalkut is entitled to receive reimbursement of certain expenses, all of
which expenses may not exceed $50,000 per year. In accordance with his employment agreement, on
August 4, 1997, Mr. Jalkut received nonqualified stock options for 296,122 shares of common stock at
an exercise price of $3.28 per share; the number of shares and the option price were subsequently
adjusted in a stock split. These options vest ratably over three years. We have granted Mr. Jalkut
registration rights for the shares he will receive upon exercise of his options. If we terminate Mr. Jalkut's
employment he may elect, within 10 business days of his termination, to have us pay him, subject to the
terms of the Indenture and the Supplemental Indenture, the aggregate fair value of his options then
vested or held by him. We will be required to make any payments in accordance with his employment
agreement.

During his employment and for two years after his termination, Mr. Jalkut's employment agreement
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requires him to refrain from investing in businesses or activities that compete with us, soliciting our
employees or otherwise competing with us, by, for example, working with or for one of our competitors.
Mr. Jalkut's employment agreement also prevents him from disclosing or using our confidential or
proprietary information at any time.

Other than the restrictions on Mr. Jalkut described above and our obligation to pay severance for one
vear following the termination of Mr. Jalkut's employment (depending on the basis for his termination),
Mr. Jalkut's employment agreement will terminate in the event of his death and may be terminated:

* By us:

(a) Without cause (as defined in his employment agreement), by giving 60 days' prior written
notice; or ‘

{b) For cause, generally subject to a 30-day writien notice of the board's intention to terminate
him for cause;

{c) Upon Mr. Jalkut's disability (as defined in his employment agreement); and

» By Mr. Jalkut:
{a) Without cause, by giving 180 days’ prior written notice; and
(b) Immediately, upon a constructive termination (as defined in his employment agreement).

Unless we terminate Mr. Jalkut's employment for cause, or Mr. Jalkut terminates his employment
without cause, Mr. Jalkut is entitled to continue to receive his salary for 12 months following the
termination of his employment with us.

Other Agreements

Messrs. Schaeffer, Lubin, O'Donnell, Rouse, Craig and Smedberg each have entered into an
agreement withus. which requires each of them to (1) assign to us all inventions developed by them
during their employment, (2} maintain the confidentiality of Pathnetproprietary information, and (3)
refrain from working with or for a competitor of ours for two years after his termination.
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ITEM 12.  SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The table below provides some information regarding beneficial ownership of our capital stock as of December 31, 1999 for:
» Each of the Named Executive Officers.

» Each of our directors.

» All of our executive officers and directors as a group.

+ Each other person, entity or group who we know beneficially owns 5% or more of any class of our stock.

All share amounts in the table have been adjusted and are presented assuming that the Contribution and Reorganization Transaction was
closed as of December 31, 1999. Unless otherwise noted, the address of each of our Named Executive Officers and directors is 1015 31st

Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20007.

Issued and outstanding Beneficial Ownership l.
Common Stock Series A Preferred Series B Preferred Series C Preferred Stock Common Stock

Percentage Percentage Perceniage Percentage  Options Total Percentage
Stockholder (a) Shares of Class Shares of Clasy Shares of Class Shares of Class {h] Shares {c)
Spectrum Equity Investors, L.P. (d).......... — — 1,372,668 47.3% 1,220,098 25.5%  1.363.406 16.7% — 39573 56.3%
Spectrum Equity Investors ([, LP. (d) ......... — — — — — — 1,363,406 16.7% —  L363406 30.8%
New Enterprise Associates VI, Limited
Partnership (e} ... - — 522,000 18.0% 685,014 14.3% 1,374.051 16.8% —_ 2,581,065 42.7%
Onset Enterprise Associaies 11 L P (f) ........ - — 522,000 18.0% 463,976 9.7% 817,672 10.0% — 1,803,648 37.0%
Onset Enterprise Associates I, L.P. () ...... — — — — — — 272,553 3.3% — 272,953 8.2%
Paul Capital Partner Funds (g)..........coeeeroe — —_ 245,989 8.5% 125,144 2.6% 136,275 1.7% — 507,573 3.9%
Thomas Domencich (h) .......cooceveiiecrinen — —_ 145,000 5.0% 62,573 1.3% — — — 207,573 6.3%
Toronto Dominion Capital (USA) Inc. (i).... — — — — 884,146 ) 18.5% 1,006,500 12.3% — 1,890,646 381%
Grotech Partners IV, L.P. (j).... TR — — — —_ 884,146 18.5% 1,006,500 12.3% — 1,890,646 38.1%
Utech Climate Challenge Fund L P (k) — — — — 442,076 9.2% 136,276 1.7% — 578.352 15.9%
Utility Competitive Advantdge Fund, LLC — —_ — — — — 366,980 4.5% — 166,980 10.7%
.. . . e
Dawd Schaeffer(mj reerrerernieeoee 2,900,000 94.5% —_ —_ — — —_ — 107.389 3,007,389 94.7'%
Richard A. Jalkut (n) J— — — — — — — — 572,502 572,502 15.7
Michael A. Lubin (0)..... — — — — — — — — 145,215 143,215 4‘1.
William R. Smedberg (p) — — — — — — — — 128.656 128,656 4.0%
Kevin J. Maroni (g) . — — 1,372,668 47.3% 1,220,099 25.8% 2726812 33.4% — 5,319,579 63.4%
Peter ]. Barris (1) ..... — — 522,000 18.0% 685,014 14.3% 1,374,051 16.8% — 2,581,065 45.7%
Patrick 1. Ketins (s} ........... — — —_ — 884,146 18.5% 1,006,500 12.3% _— 1,890,646 38.1%
Stephen A. Reinstadtler (1) ................. — —_ — —_ 884,146 18.5% 1,006,500 12.3% — 1,890,646 38.1%
All Directors and Named Executive
Officers as a Group (n) (0) (p) (g) () (s) (1). — — 1,894,668 65.3% 3,673,405 76.7% 6,113,863 74.8% 903,172 12,585,108 80.4%
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(a)
{b)
{©

{d)
(e)
]
®

)}
(0
{s)

(1

In accordance with the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission, each beneficial owner's holding has been calculated assuming full exercise of
ouistanding warrants and options exercisable or convertible by the holder within 60 days after December 31, 1999.

Only Options exercisable within 60 days after December 31, 1999 are listed.

The pro forma percentages of beneficial ownership of common stock as to each beneficial owner assumes the exercise or convession inlo common stock of ali
outstandiag options, warrants and convertible securities held by such owner that are exercisable or convertible within 60 days of December 31, 1999, but not
the exercise or conversion of options, warrants and convertible securities held by others shown in the table.

Spectrum Equity Investors, L.P.'s and Spectrum Equity Investors I, L.P.'s address is One International Place, Boston, Massachuseits, 02110,
New Enterprise Associates VI, Limited Partnership's address is 1119 Saint Paul Street, Baltimore, Maryland, 21202.
Onset Enterprise Associates II, L.P.'s and Onset Enterprise Associates III, L.P.'s address is 8911 Capital of Texas Highway, Austin, Texas, 78759.

The Paul Capital Partner Funds are five funds that constitute a "group” under Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act. Each fund's address is: c/o Paul Capital Partners,
50 California Street, Suite 3000, San Francisco, California, 94111. The five funds are Paul Capital Partners V L.P., Paul Capital Partners V {Domestic Annex
Fund} L.P., Paut Capital Partners V International, L.P., Paul Capital Pariners V1, L.P. and PCP Associates, L.P.

Thomas Domencich's address is 104 Benevolent Streel, Providence, Rhode Island, 02906.
Toronto Dominion Capital (USA) Inc.'s address is 31 West 52nd Sireet, New York, New York, 10019,
Grotech Partners IV, L.P.'s address is 9690 Deereco Road, Timonium, Maryland, 21093.

Utech Climate Challenge Fund, L.P.'s and Utility Competitive Advantage Fund, L.L.C.'s address is c/o Areté Ventures, Two Wisconsin Circle, Chevy Chase,
Maryland 20815.

Utility Competitive Advantage Fund L.L.C.'s address is c/o William T. Heflin, Managing Director, Kinetic Ventures, L.1..C., 2 Wisconsin Circle, Suite 620,
Chevy Chase, Maryland 26815.

Mr. Schaeffer is no longer an officer or director of Pathnet.

Mr. Maroni, who is a limited partner of the general partner of Spectrum and a general partner of the general partner of Spectrum Equity Investors I1, L.P.,
disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares owned by Spectrum Equity Investors, L.P. and Spectrum Equity Investors II, L.P.

Mr. Barris, who is general partner of the general partner of New Enterprise Associates VI, Limited Partnership, disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares
owned by New Enterprise Associates VI, Limited Partnership,

Mr. Kerins, Managing Director of the general partner of Grotech Pariners IV, LP, disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares owned by Grotech Parlners
IV, LP.

Mr. Reinstadtler, Vice President and Director of Toronto Dominion Capital (USA) Inc., disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares owned by Toronto Dominion
Capital (USA) Inc,
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ITEM 13.  CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS
Existing Pathnet, Inc. Agreements

Series A Purchase Agreement

Pursuant to an Investment and Stockholders’ Agreement, dated as of August 28, 1995 (the "Series
A Purchase Agreement”), by and among the Company and Spectrum Equity Investors, L.P., New
Enterprise Associates VI, Limited Partnership, Onset Enterprise Associates II, L.P., IAl Investment
Funds V111, Inc., Thomas Domencich, Dennis R. Patrick and the Corman Foundation Incorporated,
(together, the “Series A Purchasers”) and David Schaeffer, the Series A Purchasers made their initial
investments in the Company. The Series A Purchasers (i) agreed, subject to the satisfaction of certain
conditions, to purchase in the aggregate 1,000,000 shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock for
an aggregate purchase price of $1.0 million, (ii) purchased 500,000 shares of such 1,000,000 shares of
Series A Convertible Preferred Stock for an aggregate purchase price of $500,000 and (iii) agreed to
make available to the Company, under certain circumstances, bridge loans in an aggregate principal
amount of $500,000 {the “Bridge Loan Commitment”). Pursuant to Amendment No. 1 to the Investment
and Stockholders’ Agreement, dated as of February 8, 1996, the Series A Purchasers purchased the
remaining 500,000 shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock for an aggregate purchase price of
$500,000. Pursuant to Amendment No. 2 to the Investment and Stockholders” Agreement dated as of
August 2, 1996, the Series A Purchasers, among other things, increased the amount of the Bridge Loan
Commitment to an aggregate principal amount of $700,000 and advanced such amount to the Company,
such loans being evidenced by bridge loan notes (collectively, the “Bridge Loan Notes”). The Bridge
Loan Notes carried an interest rate of 12% per annum and were due and payable in full on the easlier to
occur of the first anniversary of the issuance of the Bridge Loan Notes or the closing date of the
Company’s next equity financing. The Bridge Loan Notes were to be convertible into any future equity
security issued by the Company at 73% of the price to be paid for such security by other investors. In
addition, the Series A Purchasers agreed to make available to the Company, upon the occurrence of
certain events, additional bridge loans in an aggregate principal amount of $300,000 (the “Additional
Bridge Loan Commitment”).

Series B Purchase Agreement

The Company, each of the Series A Purchasers and several additional purchasers (together, the
“Series B Purchasers”) and Mr. Schaeffer entered into an Investment and Stockholders™ Agreement,
dated as of December 23, 1996 (the “Series B Purchase Agreement”), pursuant to which, among other
things, the Series B Purchasers agreed to acquire in the aggregate 1,651,046 shares of Series B
Convertible Preferred Stock for an aggregate purchase price of $5.0 million. Of these amounts, 609,756
shares of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock were purchased on December 23, 1996, for an aggregate
purchase price of $2.0 million. In addition, the $700,000 principal amount of Bridge Loan Notes, plus
$33,367 of accrued interest, were converted into 306,242 shares of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock.
At the same time, the Series A Purchasers paid $300,000 representing the committed but undrawn
portion of the Additional Bridge Loan Commitment to the Company for the sale of 125,292 shares of
Series B Convertible Preferred Stock. The Series B Purchasers purchased the remaining 609,756 shares
of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock subject to the Series B Purchase Agreement for $2.0 million on
June 18, 1997. See Note 9 to the financial statements included elsewhere in this Report.
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Series C Purchase Agreement

The Company, the Series A Purchasers, the Series B Purchasers and one additional purchaser
{together the “Series C Purchasers”) and Mr. Schaeffer entered into the Investment and Stockholders’
Agreement, dated October 31, 1997, as amended (the “Investment and Stockholders’ Agreement”),
pursuant to which, among other things, the Series C Purchasers agreed to acquire 2,819,549 shares of
Series C Convertible Preferred Stock for an aggregate purchase price of $30.0 million. The Series C
Purchasers purchased 939,850 shares of Series C Convertible Preferred Stock for an aggregate purchase
price of $10.0 million on October 31, 1997, and purchased an additional 1,879,699 shares of Series C
Convertible Preferred Stock for an aggregate purchase price of $20.0 million simultaneously with the
closing of the Debt Offering. In connection with the Investment and Stockholders’ Agreement, the
Company, the holders of Preferred Stock {collectively, the “Investors”) and Mr. Schaeffer agreed to
amend and restate, in part, the Series A Purchase Agreement and the Series B Purchase Agreement.
These amendments restated the provisions of such agreements relating to affirmative and negative
covenants, transfer restrictions, rights to purchase and registration rights. These sections of each of the
Series A Purchase Agreement, the amendments thereto, and the Series B Purchase Agreement were
similar in all material respects. In order to remove any doubt as to this fact, to simplify matters and for
convenience (to have in one agreement the material provisions that survive the purchase and sale of the
Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, Series B Convertible Preferred Stock and Series C Convertible
Preferred Stack (collectively the “Series Preferred Stock”} and the closing of an initial public offering),
the aforementioned sections were amended and restated in the Investment and Stockholders’ Agreement.

See “--Investment and Stockholders’ Agreement.”

Terms of the Series Preferred Stock

Each share of Series Preferred Stock will automatically be converted into Common Stock
immediately upon the closing of a qualified public offering of capital stock of the Company. A qualified
public offering is defined as: (i) the Company is valued on a pre-money basis at greater than
$50,000,000, (ii) the gross proceeds received by the Company exceed $20,000,000, and (iii) the
Company uses a nationally recognized underwriter approved by holders of a majority interest of the
Series Preferred Stock. As of December 31, 1998, the Series Preferred Stock was convertible into an
aggregate of 15,864,715 shares of Common Stock.

Each share of Series Preferred Stock entitles its holder to a number of votes equal to the number of
shares of Common Stock into which such share of Series Preferred Stock is convertible. With respect
to the Board of Directors of the Company, prior to the completion of a qualified public offering (i) the
holders of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock are entitled to vote separately as a class to elect two
directors of the Company (the “Series A Investor Directors”™), (ii) the holders of Series B Convertible
Preferred Stock are entitled to vote separately as a class to elect one director (the “Series B Investor
Director”), (iii) the holders of the Series C Convertible Preferred Stock are entitled to vote separately
as a class to elect one director (to “Series C Investor Director”), (iv) the holders of the Common Stock
are entitled to vote separately as a class to elect two directors (the “Common Stock Directors”), (v) the
chief executive officer (the “CEQ”) of the Company is appointed by the affirmative vote of the Common
Stock Directors and the Series A Investor Directors, Series B Investor Director and Series C Investor
Director, voting together, and (vi} the CEO will be elected to the Board of Directors of the Company by
the holders of Common Stock and Series Preferred Stock, voting together.
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The holders of the Series Preferred Stock are entitled to receive dividends in preference to and at the
same rate as dividends are paid with respect to the Common Stock. In the event of any liquidation,
dissolution, winding up or deemed liquidation of the Company, whether voluntary or involuntary, each
holder of a share of Series Preferred Stock outstanding is entitled to be paid before any payment may be
made to the holders of any class of Common Stock or any stock ranking on liquidation junior to the
Series Preferred Stock, an amount, in cash, equal to the original purchase price paid by such holder,

appropriately adjusted for stock splits, stock dividends and the like, plus any declared but unpaid
dividends.

The Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, Series B Convertible Preferred Stock and Series C
Convertible Preferred Stock A, Series B and Series C Preferred Stock were $1,000,000, $5,033,367, and
$30,000,052, respectively, as of December 31, 1998. In the event the assets of the Company are
insufficient to pay liquidation preference amounts, all of the assets available for distribution shall be
distributed to each holder of Series Preferred Stock pro rata in proportion to the number of shares of
Series Preferred Stock held by such holder.

Shares of the Series Preferred Stock may be converted at any time, at the option of the holder, into
shares of Common Stock. The number of shares of voting Common Stock to be received upon
conversion is subject to adjustment in the event of stock dividends and subdividends, certain
combinations of Common Stock, and issuances of Common Stock and of securities convertible into
Common Stock that have a dilutive effect. As of December 31, 1998, each share of Series Preferred
Stock was convertible into 2.9 shares of Common Stock.

Investinent and Stockholders’ Agreement

Pursuant to the terms of the Investment and Stockholders’ Agreement, the Investors and Mr. Jalkut
are entitled to certain registration rights with respect to securities of the Company. On any three
occasions at the option of the holders, the holders of a majority of the securities registrable under the
terms of the Investment and Stockholders’ Agreement (“Registrable Securities”) may require the
Company to effect a registration under the Securities Act of 1933 of their Registrable Securities, subject
to the Company’s right to defer such registration for a period of up to 60 days. In addition, if the
Company proposes to register securities under the Securities Act of 1933 (other than a registration
relating either to the sale of securities to employees pursuant to a stock option, stock purchase or similar
plan or a transaction under Rule 145 of the Securities Act), then any of the holders of Registrable
Securities have the right (subject to certain cut-back limitations) to request that the Company register
such holder's Registrable Securities. All registration expenses of the Investors (exclusive of
underwriting discount and commissions) up to $60,000 per offering will be borne by the Company. The
Company has agreed to indemnify the Investors against certain liabilities in connection with any
registration effected pursuant to the foregoing terms, including liabilities arising under the Securities
Act.

Pathnet Telecommunications Inc. Stockholders Agreement

Following the closing of the Transaction, the Pathnet Inc. stockholders agreement will terminate, and
a new Pathnet Telecommunications, Inc., stockholders agreement will go into effect. We summarize
in this section selected materials of the new stockholders agreement. For a more complete description,
we refer you to the copy of Pathnet Telecommunications, Inc's stockholders agreement filed as an exhibit
to the Pathnet Telecommunications, Inc.'s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-
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91469) filed by PTI with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Commission”) on November
22,1999

If there is an inconsistency between this summary and the stockholders agreement, the stockholders
agreement will control.

Overview

Upon closing of the various contribution agreements comprising Transaction, PI will enter into a
stockholders agreement with CSX, Colonial, BNSF, our other preferred stockholders and David
Schaeffer. The stockholders agreement will put in place at the Pathnet Telecom level many of the
provisions that currently apply under Pathnet's existing Investment and Stockholders Agreement.
Pathnet's existing Investment and Stockholders Agreement will be terminated after the Transaction.

In accordance with the stockholders agreement, each stockholder will agree to vote in favor of the
election of a board of directors consisting of 10 members:

+  Two designees of the Series A Preferred Stockholders {initially, a designee of Spectrum Equity
Investors L.P. and the other will initially be a designee of New Enterprise Associates VI Limited
Partnership);

*  One designee of the Series B Preferred Stockholders (initially, a designee of Grotech Partners
IV.LP);

*  One designee of the Series C Preferred Stockholders (initially, a designee of Toronto Dominion
Capital (U.S.A)), Inc.) who may not be a partner or associate of Spectrum, New Enterprise
Assaciates or Grotech for so long as they have designation rights under our stockholders
agreement;

*  Three designees of the Series D and E Preferred Stockholders (one designated by BNSF, one by
CSX and one by Colonial);

= Pathnet Telecommunications, Inc.'s CEQ;

*  One independent "outside" director, who is neither a member of management nor an affiliate of
any stockhoider; and

*  One director who will be elected by all voting stockholders voting together as a single class, as
provided by our certificate of incorporation.

Under the stockholders agreement, PTI will be subject to covenants substantially similar to those in
effect under Pathnet's Investment and Stockholders Agreement. For so long as at least 25% of the shares
of preferred stock outstanding immediately after the closing of the Transaction remain outstanding, these
covenants wilf require that PTI obtain the approval of the holders of two-thirds of the outstanding shares
of preferred stock (all voting as a single class) before PTI undertake certain fundamental actions,
including mergers, dispositions, acquisitions, amendments to our certificate of incorporation and bylaws,
affiliated transactions, and certain issuances of securities. In addition, certain actions that would
adversely affect the rights of a single series of preferred stock relative to any other series of preferred
stock would require the majority vote of each adversely affected series.

Each party to the stockholders agreement will represent and warrant to the other stockholders
that they, he or it (1) has no present intention or plan, formally or informally, on the closing date to
transfer or dispose of any of the shares received by such party under their, his or its contribution
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agreement, and (2) intends for their, his or its contribution of Pathnet shares or other property to us in
accordance with their, his or its contribution agreement to be treated as part of a single integrated
transaction in which gain or loss will not be recognized for tax purposes. Each existing Pathnet
stockholder who participates will represent and warrant to the other parties that it intends its contribution
of Pathnet shares to us to qualify as a tax-free reorganization under Section 368(a) (1)(B) of the Internal
Revenue Code, pursuant to which gain or loss will not be recognized.

Registration Rights

In the stockholders agreement, PTI. will grant registration rights to its preferred stockholders and to
Mr. Jalkut and Mr. Schaeffer. These registration rights will be substantially similar to the registration
rights granted to these same holders in the Pathnet Investment and Stockholders Agreement, except that
Mr. Schaeffer will be granted registration rights. The holders of securities subject to registration rights
will have both "demand" and "piggy back" registration rights.

Demand Rights

PTI will grant "demand” registration rights for two separate groups of our equity securities. The
groups are broadly distinguished by the identity of the holders who can demand that PTI register their
shares under the Securities Act. The first group consists of the holders of:

»  Shares of common stock issued to PTT's preferred stockholders, or issuable to PTI's preferred
stockholders upon the conversion of their shares of preferred stock; and

»  Shares of common stock issued or issuable to Mr. Jalkut upon the exercise of his options.

PTI refer to these groups of shares as "registrable securities.” On three separate occasions, by the vote
of the holders of the applicable percentage of the registrable securities outstanding in this first group,
the holders of the shares in this group may require PTI to use its best efforts to file a registration
statement with the SEC in respect of their registrable securities. Before PTI make an initial "Qualified
Public Offering” (which the stockholders agreement defines as a public offering of more than $75
million in value of our securities at a per share price that implies a valuation in excess of $600 million
for all of the shares of our capital stock), the holders of at least 67% of the total number of outstanding
registrable securities must affirmatively vote to exercise any of these demand rights. After PT1 makes
an initial Qualified Public Offering, the holders of 20% of the total number of outstanding registrable
securities may make the demand. Although PTI does not include Mr. Schaeffer's shares in calculating
the percentages for purposes of the demand by this group, he will be entitled to participate on a
proportional basis in any registration demanded by this group of our stockholders.

Separately, PTI will grant Mr. Schaeffer a single right to demand that PTI register his shares of its
common stock under the Securities Act. Mr. Schaeffer will have the right to exercise his demand
registration right if: (1} PTI complete an initial Qualified Public Offering, and (2) its registration
statement filed in respect of that initial offering either:

»  Does not include Mr. Schaeffer's shares of its common stock that he proposes to register; or

»  Has ceased to be effective within the thirty-day period following the expiration of a mandatory
"lock-up” period applicable to all of the holders of our securities with registration rights. (The

70




lock-up provisions of our stockholders agreement will prohibit sales of our securities by the
parties to our stockholders agreement for a period up to 180 days following the completion of
an initial public offering.)

Although they may not initiate a "demand” under this provision, the holders of PTI's registrable
securities identified above may participate on a proportional basis in any registration demanded by Mr.
Schaeffer under this provision of the stockholders agreement.

In exercising these demand registration rights, the stockholders must in all cases have selected an
underwriter reasonably acceptable to us who is prepared to underwrite the offering of the shares on a
firm commitment basis. PTI will have additional obligations to assist in the registration and underwriting
of any shares that these holders seek to sell pursuant to their registration rights. PTI will have a right to
defer each of those demand registrations for up to 60 days, if our legal counsel has advised us that filing
a registration statement relating to such a demand registration would require us either (1) to disclose a
material impending transaction and PTI have determined in good faith that the disclosure would have
a material adverse effect on us, or (2) to conduct a special audit.

Pathnet has separate "demand registration” obligations under a Warrant Registration Rights
Agreement executed in conjunction with Pathnet 's Note and warrant offering in April 1998. Under that
agreement, the holders of a majority of the Pathnet warrants may require Pathnet on one occasion after
an initial public offering to register under the Securities Act their shares of common stock received upon
the exercise of their warrants, subject to Pathnet's right to defer the registration of those shares for up
to 60 days in similar circumistances. In connection with the transaction, PTI expects to propose to the
holders of these rights that it assume Pathnet 's obligations under this Warrant Registration Rights
Agreement. [f the requisite holders of the Pathnet’s warrants consent to the proposed amendments, PTI
may be required by the terms of the Warrant Registration Rights Agreement to register additional shares
of our common stock upon the exercise of these warrants.

Piggyback Rights

Pathnet Telecommunications, Inc will also grant to each of these groups of its stockholders {and, if
it assumes Pathnet's obligations to the holders of its warrants, then also to those warrant holders) so-
called "piggyback” registration rights, under which they can require PTI to register their shares of
common stock whenever it registers any of its equity securities under the Securities Act. These
piggyback registration rights will be subject to underwriter "cutbacks,” which means that PTT's managing
underwriter may decide to limit the number of shares added to a registration that it initiate because the
underwriter has concluded that including the additional "piggyback” shares would have an adverse
impact on the marketing of the securities to be sold in the underwritten offering. These piggyback
registration rights will not apply to any registration relating to a public offering pursuant to demand
registration rights granted to Pathnet warrantholders, to the registration of securities with our employee
benefit plans, on any SEC form that does not permit secondary offerings, or to securities we issue in a
merger, exchange offer or similar transaction. -

PTI will be required to bear up to $60,000 of registration expenses for each demand registration under
its stockholders agreement. In addition, it will agree to indemnify the registration rights holders against,
and provide contribution for, liabilities under the Securities Act, the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
or other federal or state laws regarding the registration of our securities. However, it will not indemnify
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the registration rights holders against, or provide them contribution for, any untrue statements or
omissions made by us in reliance on and in conformity with information furnished to us in writing by
the registration rights holders.

Preemptive Rights

Under the stockholders agreement, each of PTI's preferred stockholders and Mr. Schaeffer will have
the right to participate in certain of our sales of securities. Specifically, on each occasion between the
closing of the Contribution and Reorganization Transaction and an initial "Qualified Public Offering”
that it issues shares of its capital stock (or other securities convertible or exchangeable for our capital
stock), PTI's preferred stockholders and Mr. Schaeffer will have the right to purchase their pro rata share
of the newly issued securities. In addition, in the event that any of our preferred stockholders or Mr.
Schaeffer elects not to purchase his or its pro rata share of the newly issued securities, the remaining
preferred stockholders and Mr. Schaeffer will have the right to purchase those shares as well.

Transfer Restrictions

Mr. Schaeffer's ability to transfer his shares of our capital stock will be subject to restrictions under
our stockholders agreement. He is prohibited from making any transfers other than specifically
enumerated "Permitted Transfers." Those Permitted Transfers include:

»  Transfers made in accordance with specified provisions of our stockholders agreement which,
among other things, grant a right of first refusal to our preferred stockholders with respect to the
shares Mr. Schaeffer proposes to transfer.

+  Transfers by Mr. Schaeffer to his spouse or his children, to a trust he establishes for his spouse
or children, upon his death, to a trust established under his will and other similar transfers,
provided that the transferee enters into an enforceable written agreement that is satisfactory to
us and to a majority of our preferred stockholders, providing that the shares transferred by M.
Schaeffer remain subject to our stockholders agreement.

»  Transfers that constitute a bona fide pledge or other granting of a security interest in Mr.
Schaeffer's shares of our stock to secure a loan for borrowed money, subject to specified
resirictions, including limitations on the purpose of any such loan, the minimum net assets of the
lending institution, and a review of the applicable loan documents by our outside counsel for
compliance with the terms of our stockholders agreement.
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PART IV

ITEM 14. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES AND REPORTS ON
FORM 8-K
(@) The following documents are filed as part of this report:
(1) Financial Statements
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 1999 and 1998

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997,
and for the period August 25, 1995 (date of inception) to December 31, 1999

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss for the years ended December 31, 1999, 1998
and 1997, and for the period August 25, 1995 (date of inception) to December 31, 1999

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 1999, 1998 and
1997, and for the period August 25, 1995 (date of inception) to December 31, 1999

Consolidated Statement of Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit) for the years ended December 31,
1999, 1998, 1997 and 1996, and for the period August 25, 1995 (date of inception} to
December 31, 1999

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(2) Financial Statement Schedules

All schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or not required or because the required
information is incorporated herein by reference or included in the financial statements or notes
thereto included elsewhere in this report.

{b) Reports on Form 8-K.

On November 9, 1999, the company announced that it had entered into agreements providing for
strategic investments from Colonial Pipeline Company, Burlington Northern and Sante Fe
Corporation (BNSF) and CSX Corporation.

(c) Exhibits.
The following exhibits are filed as a part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

Exhibit Number Déscription of Document

Item 14 Exhibits
3.1 (ii) Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Pathnet, Inc.
and Certificate of Amendment to such Certificate of Incorporation.
3.2 (ii) Amended and Restated Bylaws of Pathnet Telecommunications, Inc.
4.1 (i} Indenture, dated as of April 8, 1998, between Pathnet, Inc.
and The Bank of New York, Inc. as Trustee
4.4 (i) Form of Note
4.5 (i) Pledge Agreement, dated as of April 8, 1998, among Pathnet,
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10.1 () (2)
10.2 (i) {2)
10.3 (v)
10.4 (v)
10.5 (v)
10.6 (v)
10.7 (v)

10.8 (v)

10.9 (i)

10.10 ()

10.11 (i)

10.12 (jii)

10.13 (i)

10.14 (i) (2)

10.15 (vi) (2)

Inc., The Bank of New York as Trustee and The Bank of New
York as the Securities Intermediary

Pathnet, Inc. 1995 Stock Option Plan

Pathnet, Inc. 1997 Stock Incentive Plan as amended by Amendment No. 1
to 1997 Stock Incentive Plan.

Contribution Agreement, dated as of November 2, 1999, by and
among Pathnet Telecommunications, Inc., Pathnet, Inc. and
The Burlington Northern Santa Fe Railway Company
Contribution Agreement, dated as of November 2, 1999, by and
among Pathnet Telecommunications, Inc., Pathnet, Inc. and
Colonial Pipeline Company

Contribution Agreement, dated as of November 2, 1999, by and
among Pathnet Telecommunications, Inc., Pathnet, Inc. and
CSX Transportation, Inc.

Contribution Agreement, dated as of November 2, 1999, by and
among Pathnet Telecommunications, Inc., Pathnet, Inc. and
The Preferred Stockholders of Pathnet, Inc.

Contribution Agreement, dated as of November 2, 1999, by and
among Pathnet Telecommunications, Inc., Pathnet, Inc. and
Common Stockholders of Pathnet, Inc.

Contribution Agreement, dated November 4, 1999, by and among
Pathnet Telecommunications, Inc., Pathnet, Inc. and David
Schaeffer

Warrant Agreement, dated as of April 8, 1998, between
Pathnet, Inc. and The Bank of New York, as warrant agent
Warrant Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of April 8,
1998, among Pathnet, Inc., Spectrum Equity Investors, L.P.,
New Enterprise Associates VI, Limited Partnership, Onset
Enterprise Associates II, L.P., FBR Technology Venture
Partners, L.P., Toronto Dominion Capital (U.S.A.) Inc.,
Grotech Partners IV, L.P., Richard A. Jalkut, David

Schaeffer and the Initial Purchasers

Lease Agreement, dated August 9, 1997, by and between
Pathnet, Inc. and 6715 Kenilworth Avenue General Partnership
relating to Pathnet Inc.'s offices in Georgetown, including
Amendment to Lease Agreement dated March 5, 1998, and Second
Amendment to Lease dated June 1, 1998

Amendment No. 3 to Lease Agreement, dated September 1, 1998,
by and between Pathnet, Inc. and 6715 Kenilworth Avenue
General Partnership 7

Notes Registration Rights Agreement, dated April 8, 1998, by

- and among Pathnet, Inc. and Merrill Lynch & Co., Merrill

Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, Bear Stearns &
Co. Inc., TD Securities (USA) Inc. and Salomon Brothers
Employment Agreement, dated August 4, 1997, by and between

* Pathnet, Inc. and Richard A. Jalkut, as amended by Amendment

to Employment Agreement, dated April 6, 1998
Letter Agreement, dated April 7, 1999, between Pathnet, Inc.
and Robert Rouse, relating to Mr. Rouse's employment with
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10.16 (i) (2)

10.17 (viii)
10.18 (i) (2)
10.19 (i) (2)
10.20 (viii) (3)

10.21 (viii) (3)

10.22 (viii)

10.23 (viii)

10.24 (i)

10.25 (i)

10.26 (i)

10.27 (v)

10.28 (v)

10.29 (v)

10.30 (viii)

10.31 (viii)

Pathnet, Inc.

Non-Disclosure, Assignment of Inventions and Non Competition
Agreement, dated February 2, 1998, by and between Pathnet,
Inc. and Kevin Bennis.

Assignment and Acceptance, by and between Pathnet, Inc. and
Pathnet Telecommunications, Inc.

Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement, dated August 4, 1997,
by and between Pathnet, Inc. and Richard A. Jalkut
Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement, dated October 31,
1997, by and between Pathnet, Inc. and David Schaeffer

IXC Master Services Agreement, dated June 17, 1999, by and
between IXC Communications Services, Inc. and Pathnet, Inc.,
as amended by Amendment No. 1 dated August 26, 1999 and
Amendment No. 2, dated October 13, 1999

Capacity Agreement, dated August 10, 1999, between Frontier
Communications of the West, Inc. and Pathnet, Inc.

Collocation and Interconnection Agreements:

Collocation Agreement, dated July 29, 1999, by and between
BellSouth Telecommunications, Inc. and Pathnet, Inc.

Interim Collocation Agreement, dated August 12, 1999,

between U S West Communications, Inc. and Pathnet, Inc.
Equipment Supply Contracts:

Master Agreement, dated August 8, 1997, between Pathnet,

Inc. and NEC America, Inc. as amended by Amendment No. 1 to
Master Agreement, dated November 9, 1997, Amendment No. 2 to
Master Agreement, dated April 2, 1998, Amendment No. 3 to
Master Agreement, dated May 4, 1998, and Amendment No. 4 to
Master Agreement, dated july 10, 1998

Amendment No. 5 to Master Agreement, dated November 20,
1998, by and between Pathnet, Inc. and NEC America, Inc.
Purchase Agreement, dated July 1, 1995, between Andrew
Corporation and Path Tel, Inc., as amended by Amendment One,
dated September 16, 1996 and Amendment Two, dated July 1,
1997

Agreement, dated March 31, 1999, between Pacific Fiber Link,
LLC and Pathnet, Inc.

Marketing Agreement, dated March 31, 1999, between Pacific

-Fiber Link, LLLC and Pathnet, Inc.

Dark Fiber Network Agreement, dated August 5, 1999, by and
among Pathnet, Inc., Tri-State Generation and Transmission
Association, Inc., Empire Electric Association, Inc., La

Plata Electric Association, Inc., Delta-Montrose Electric
Association, Inc. and San Miguel Power Association, Inc.
Form of Letter agreement, dated November 4, 1999, by and
among Pathnet, Inc., David Schaeffer, Spectrum Equity
Investors, L.P., Spectrum Equity Investors I, L.P., New
Enterprise Associates VI, Limited Partnership and Grotech
Partners IV, L.P.

Licence of Marks, dated November 10, 1999, by and between
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Pathnet, Inc. and Pathnet Telecommunications, Inc.

10.32.1 (vii)  Investment and Stockholders Agreement, dated as of

October 31, 1997 (the "Investment and Stockholders Agreement")
by and among Pathnet, Inc. and certain stockholders of Pathnet, Inc.

10.32.2 (vii) Consent Waiver and Amendment, dated as of March 19, 1998,

relating to the Investment and Stockholders Agreement

10.32.3 (vii) Amendment No. 1 to the Investment and Stockholders Agreement

dated as of April 1, 1998.

21.1 (1) List of Subsidiaries of Pathnet Telecommunications, Inc.
27.1 (1) Financial Data Schedule
99.1 (viii) Consent of the Yankee Group

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

{viii)

Incorporated by reference to the corresponding exhibit to Pathnet, Inc.'s Registration
Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-52247) filed by Pathnet, Inc. with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Commission") on May 8, 1998, as amended
by Amendment No. I to such Registration Statement filed with the Commission on July
16, 1998, and as further amended by Amendment No. 2 to such Registration Statement
filed with the Commission on July 27, 1998, and as further amended by Amendment No.
3 to such Registration Statement filed with the Commission on August 10, 1998.

Incorporated by reference to Pathnet, Inc.'s Form 10-K (File No. 000-24745) filed by
Pathnet, Inc. with the Commission on March 18, 1999.

Incorporated by reference to Pathnet, Inc.'s Form 10-Q (File No. 000-24745) filed by
Pathnet, Inc. with the Commission on May 17, 1999.

Incorporated by reference to Pathnet, Inc.'s Form 10-Q (File No. 000-24745) filed by
Pathnet, Inc. with the Commission on August 9, 1999.

Incorporated by reference to Pathnet, Inc.'s Form 10-Q (File No. 000-24745) filed by
Pathnet, Inc. with the Commission on November 15, 1999.

Incorporated by reference to Pathnet, Inc.'s Form 8-K (File No. 000-24745) filed by
Pathnet, Inc. with the Commission on April 29, 1999.

Incorporated by reference to the corresponding exhibit to Pathnet, Inc.'s Registration
Statement on Form S-4 (Registration No. 333-53467) filed by Pathnet, Inc. with the
Commission on May 22, 1998, as amended by Amendment No. 1 to such Registration
Statement filed with the Commissiont on August 12, 1998, and as further amended by
Amendment No. 2 to such Registration Statement filed with the Commission on August
21, 1998, and as further amended by Amendment No. 3 to such Registration Statement
filed with the Commission on August 31, 1998.

Incorporated by reference to the corresponding exhibit to Pathnet Telecommunications,
Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-91469) filed by Pathnet
Telecommunications, Inc. with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the
"Commission") on November 22, 1999, as amended by Amendment No. 1 to such
Registration Statement filed with the Commission on December 16, 1999, and as further
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amended by Amendment No. 2 to such Registration Statement filed with the
Commission on February 22, 2000.

(1) Filed herewith.
(2)  Constitutes management contract or compensatory arrangement.

(3) Certain portions of this exhibit have been omitted based on a request for confidential
treatment filed separately with the Commission.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly
authorized, in the District of Columbia on this 22nd day of February 2000.

PATHNET, INC.

By:/s/  Michael A. Lubin

Name: Michael A. Lubin
Title: Vice President, General Counsel And
Secretary

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below
by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
/s/ Richard A. Jalkut Chief Executive Officerand  February 22, 2000
_ Director

Richard A. Jalkut

/s/ James M. Craig Executive Vice-President ~ February 22, 2000
Chief Financial Officer
James M. Craig and Treasurer (Principal
: Financial Officer and
Controller
/s/ Peter ]. Bairis Director February 22, 2000

Peter ]. Barris

/s/ Kevin J. Marconi Director February 22, 2000

Kevin J. Maroni

/s/ Patrick J. Kerins Director February 22, 2000
Patrick J. Kerins

/s/ Stephen A. Reinstadtler Director February 22, 2000
Stephen A. Reinstadtler
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Report of Independent Accountants

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
Pathnet, Inc.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements listed in the accompanying index
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Pathnet, Inc. and its subsidiaries (a
development stage enterprise} (the Company) at December 31, 1999 and 1998, and the results of their
operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 1999 and
for the period August 25, 1995 (date of inception) to December 31, 1999, in conformity accounting
principles with generally accepted in the United States. These financial statements are the responsibility
of the Company’s management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States, which require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statemnents, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for the opinion expressed above.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

McLean, VA
February 22, 2000




PATHNET, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

A Development Stage Enterprise
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Note receivable
Interest receivable
Marketable securities available for sale, at market
Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Total current assets

Property and equipment, net

Deferred financing costs, net

Restricted cash

Marketable securities available for sale. at market
Pledged marketable securities held to maturity
Other assets

Total assets

LIABILITIES, MANDATORILY REDEEMABLE PREFERRED STOCK
AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)
Accounts payable
Accrued interest
Accrued expenses and other current Labilities

Total current liabilities
Comimitments and contingences

12 1/4% Sentor Notes, net of unamortized bond discount of $3,378,375 and $3,787 875
respectively

Other noncurrent liabilities

Total liabilities

Series A convertible preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 1,600,000 shares autherized, issued
and outstanding at December 31, 1999 and 1998, respectively (lquidation preference
$1,000,000)

Sertes B convertible preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 1,651,046 shares authorized, issued
and outstanding at December 31, 1999 and 1998, respectively (liquidation preference
$5,033,367)

Series C convertible preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 2,819,549 shares authorized, issued
and outstanding at December 31, 1999 and 1998, respectively (liquidation preference
$30.000.052)

Total mandatorily redeemable preferred stock

Common stock, $0.01 par value, 60,000,000 shares authorized, 3,068,218 and 2,502,358
shares issued and outstanding

Deferred compensation

Additional paid-in capital

Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income

Deficit accumulated during the development stage

Total stockholders' equity (deficit)

December 31, December 31,
1999 1998
S 90,661,837 $ 57321887
- 3,206,841
1,048,417 3,848,753
42,651,836 97,895,773
1,437 464 205 508
135,799,554 162,478,759
131,928,265 47971336
6,649,680 10,508,251
16,452,916 10,731,353
5,088,458 71,899 757
21,265,206 61,824,673
351,808 -
$ 320,535,987 § 365,414,129
$ 18,543,195 S 10,708,263
8,932,293 8,932,294
3,113,181 639,688
30,588,669 20,280,245
346,621,625 346,212,125
3,092,779 -
380,303,073 366.492,370
1,000,000 1,000,000
5,008,367 5,008,367
29.961.272 29961.272
35,969,639 35,969,639
30,682 29.024
(441,760) (978.064)
6,264,362 6,156,406
(90,240 208,211
{101,499,769) {42,463,457)
(95,736,725} (37,047 830)

Total liabilities, mandatorily redeemable preferred stock and stockholders’ equity {deficit)

§ 320,535,987

$ 365414129

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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PATHNET, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
A Development Stage Enterprise
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

For the period

August 25, 1995

For the year ended (date of inception)
December 31, to December 31,
1999 1998 1997 1999
Revenue g 31.311,096 $ 1,583,539 $ 162,500 5 5,058,135
Operating expenses;

Cost of revenue 12,694,909 7,547,620 - 20,242,529
Selling, general and administrative 14,669,747 9,615,867 4247 101 30,295,096
Contribution and reorganization expenses 1,022,998 - - 1,022,998
Depreciation expense 6,204,381 732,813 46,642 6,993,212
Total operating expenses 34,592,035 17,896,300 4,293,743 58,553,835

Net operating loss (31,280,939) (16,312,761} (4,131,243)  (53,495,700)

Interest expense (41,010,069) (32,572,454) - (73,997,880
Interest income 13,111,953 13,940,240 159,343 27,227,189

Write-off of initial public offering costs - (1,354,534) - (1,354,534)
Other income (expense}, net 142,743 2,813 (5,500) 140,156

Net loss $ (59,036,312) $ (36,206,596) § (3977400 § (101,480,769)

Basic and diluted loss per
common share 5 (20.14) % (1251) % (1.37)

Weighted average number of
common shares outstanding 2,931,644 2,902,029 2,900,000

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.




PATHNET, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
A Development Stage Enterprise
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

For the period

August 25, 1995
For the year ended {date of inception)

December 31, to December 31,

1999y 1998 1997 199Y
Net loss $ (59036312 3 (36,296,596) § (3977400 § (101,480,769)
Other comprehensive (loss) income:
Net unrealized (loss) gain on marketable

securities available for sale (298.,451) 208,211 - (90,240)
Comprehensive loss $ (59334,763) 3% (36,088385) § (39774000 § (101,571,0609)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.




. PATHNET, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
A Development Stage Enterprise
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Faor the period

August 15, 1995

For the year ended {date of inception)
December 3. to December 31,
1999 1998 1997 1999
Cash flows from operating activities:
Met loss $ {59.036.312) $ (36.296.596) % (3.977.400) $ (101.430.769)
Adjustment to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation expense 6.204,381 732,813 45.642 6,993,212
Amortization of deferred financing costs 1,138,722 842,790 - 1.981.512
Loss on sale of equipment 17.370 - 5.500 22,870
Gain on sale of marketable securities {157.983) . - {137.983)
Write-off of deferred financing costs - 581,334 - 581.334
Interest expense resulting from amortization of discount on the
bonds payable 409,500 307,125 - 716,625
Amortization of premium on pledged securities 537.251 - - 337.251
Amortization of deferred compensation 536.304 708,295 - 1.237.599
Interest expense for beneficial conversion feature of bridge toan - - - 381.9%0
Accrued inerest satisfied by conversion of bridge loan to
Series B convertible preferred stock - B - 33,367
Changes in assets and liabitities:
Interest receivable 3,370,552 {4.846,952) - { 1.476,400)
Prepaid expenses and other assets (1,583.767) (156,935) (46.876) (1.789.272)
Accounts payable 689,533 6,709 386,106 1.197,147
Accrued interest - 8,932,294 - 8,932,294
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 2,816,674 339,688 269.783 3.436.361
et cash used in operating activities _ {45,057.77%) (28,856.435) (3.316.245) {78.832.862)
Cash flows from investing activities: .
Expenditures for network in progress (79.378.740) (33.619,342) {1.739,782) (114.737,864)
Expenditures for property and equipment {910,668) (2,769.076) . {381.261) {2.116,561)
Proceeds on sale of equipment 5.624 - - 5.624
Sate and maturity of marketable securites available for sale 170,446,259 51.542.384 - 221.988.643
Purchase of marketable secunities available for sale (48.531,491) 221,129.703) - (269,661.194)
Purchase of marketable securities pledged as collateral - (83,097,655} - (83.097.655)
Sale of pledged marketable securities held to maturity 39,452,000 22,271,181 . - 61.723.181
Eestncted cash (5,721,563 (9,971,142} (760,211) {16.452.916)
Issuance of note receivable - (3,206,841) . {3.206.841)
Repayment of note receivable 3,206,841 9.000 - 3.215,841
Met cash provided by (used in) investing activities 78,568,262 {279.971,194) (2,881.254) (204,339.742)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Issuance of voting and non-votling common stock - 1.000

Proceeds from sale of preferred stock - 19,999,998 12.000.054 15.000.952
Proceeds from sale of Series B convertible preferred stock representing the
conversion of committed but undrawn portion of bridge loan 10 Series B

convertible preferred stock - - - 300,000
Proceeds from bond offering - 350,000,000 - 350,000,000
Proceeds from bridge loan - - - 700,000
Exercise of employee common stack options 109.614 81 - 109.695
Payment of issuance costs for preferred siock offerings - - (38.730) (63.780)
Payment of deferred financing cosis . 280,151 111,681,947y 250,428) 112.212,520)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities {170.537) 358,318.132 11.710.846 373.834,441
MNet increase in cash and cash equivalents 313,339,950 49,490,503 5.513.347 90.661.837
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period 57.321.887 7,831,384 2.318,037 -
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of period 3 90.661.837 § 57321887 § 7.831.38¢ 3 00.660.837

Supplemental disclosure:

Cash paid for interest $ 43,081,220 $ 22,271,234 $ $ 65352454
Noncash investing & financing transactions
Conversion of bridge loan plus accrued interest to Series B preferred stock H - 3 - § -8 733.367
Conversion of non-voting common stock to voting common stock b - $ - 8 -8 500
Issuance of voting and non-voiing common stock 3 - 3 - 8 - $ 9.000
Acquisition of network equipment financed by accounts payable § 20.095.646 3 10,200,650 3 5,092,013 § 20,095,646

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.




Balance at August 25, 1993 (date of inception)

Issuance of Non-voting common stock
Net loss

Balance at December 31, 1995
Cancellation of Non-voting common stock
Issuance of Voting common stock
Interest expense for beneficial conversion

feature of bridge loan
Net loss

Balance at December 31, 1996
Net loss

Balance at December 31, 1997

Excrcise of stock options
Repayment of note receivable

PATHNET INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
A Development Stage Enterprise
STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)

Deterred compensation expense related to issuance of

employee common stock options

Amortization of compensation expense related to

issuance of employee common stock options

Fair value of warrants to purchase common
stock

Net unrealized gain on marketable securities
available for sale

Net loss

Balance at December 31, 1998

Exercise of stock optiens

Amortization of compensation expense related to

issuance of employee common stock options
Net unrealized gain on marketable securities
available for sale
Net loss
Balance at December 31, 1994

Deficit
Note Accumulated Accumulated
Receivable Additional Other During
Common Stock From Deferred Paid-in Comprehensive  Development

Shares Amount  Stockholder Compensation Capital Loss Stage Total
- 3 - 5 - 3 - % - 8 - 3 - 8 -
1,450,000 14,500 {4,500) - - (9.5000 500
1,450,000 14,500 (4,500) - {9,500) S04
- . - - (426,826) {426,820)
2,900,000 29,000 (9,000} - - - (445.,826) (425,8206)
(1,450,000) (14,500} - - - - (14,500}
1,450,000 14,500 - - - - 14,500
- . - 381,990 - - 381,990
- - - - - (1,743,635} (1,743,635)
2,900,000 29,000 (9,000) 381,990 . (2,189,461) (1.787,471)
- - - (3,977,400) (3,977,400)
2,900,000 29,000 (9.000) - 381,990 . (6,166,861) (5,764,871)
2,358 24 - - 57 - 81
- 9,000 - - - 9,000

- - (1,679,359) 1,679,359 -

- - - 701,295 - - - 701,295
- - - 4,095,000 - 4,095,000
- - - - 208,211 - 208,21
- - - - - (36,290,590) (36,296,590}
2,902,358 3 29024 § - % (978,004) § 6,156,400 § 208,211 §  (42,463.457) § (37.047.880)
165,860 1,658 - - 107,956 - 109,614
- - 536,304 - 530,304
. . - - {298 ,451) - {29%,451)
) . . - (59,036,312 (59,036,312)
3,068,218 § 30,682 § - 3 (441,760} § 6,204,362 % (90,240) § (101,499,769} § (95,736.725)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial stutements.

F-7




.PATHNET, INC. AND SUBSIDIAI’S
A DEVELOPMENT STAGE ENTERPRISE
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)

1. THE COMPANY

Pathnet, Inc. (Company) is wholesale telecommunications provider building a nationwide
network designed to provide other wholesale and retail telecommunications service providers with
access to underserved and second and third tier markets throughout the United States. The Company's
network will enable its customers including existing local telephone companies, long distance
companies, Internet service providers, competitive telecommunications companies,, cellular operators
and resellers to offer additional services to new and existing customers in these markets without having
to expend their own resources to build, expand, or upgrade their own networks.

During 1999, Pathnet continued to construct and deploy digital networks utilizing both wireless
and fiber-optic technologies. Pursuant to its agreement with Worldwide Fiber USA (WFT), the Company
began to construct and market a multi-conduit fiber-optic network between Chicago, llinois and Denver,
Colorado during the second quarter. In August 1999, the Company announced it will co-develop a 400
mile fiber network connecting Grand Junction, Colorado to Albequerque, New Mexico with Tri State
Generation and Transmission Association, Inc. (Tri-State). In November 1999, Pathnet signed an
agreement with CapRock Communications (Capock) to construct a 350-mile multi-conduit, fiber
network between Albuquerque, New Mexico and El Paso, Texas

As of December 31, 1999, the Company's network consisted of over 6,300 wireless route miles
providing wholesale transport services to 30 cities and 500 miles of instailed fiber. The Company is
constructing an additional 600 route miles of fiber network, which is scheduled for completion in the
first half of 2000.

Since inception, the Company’s business has been funded primarily through equity investments
by the Company's stockholders and $350.0 million aggregate principal amount of 12 %% Senior Notes
due 2008 (Sentor Notes) which have been registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

A substantial portion of the Company's initial activities involved developing strategic
relationships with co-developers such as railroads, pipelines and utilities and building its network.
Accordingly, most of its earlier revenues reflected only project management and advisory services in
connection with the design, development and construction of its network. Revenues derived from the
sale of telecommunication services along the Company’s digital network are approximately 51% to date.
The Company has experienced significant operating and net losses and negative operating cash flow to
date and expects to continue to experience operating and net losses and negative operating cash flow
until such time as it is able to generate revenue sufficient to cover its operating expenses

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Accounting

The Company recently commenced providing telecommunication services to customers and
recognizing the revenue from the sale of such telecommunication services. The Company's principal
activities to date have been securing contractual alliances with its co-development partners, designing
and constructing network path segments, obtaining capital and planning its proposed service.
Accordingly, the Company’s consolidated financial statements are presented as a development stage
enterprise, as prescribed by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 7, “Accounting and
Reporting by Development Stage Enterprises.” As a development stage enterprise, the Company has
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. PATHNET, INC. AND SUBSIDIAIQS
A DEVELOPMENT STAGE ENTERPRISE
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)

been relying on the issuance of equity and debt securities, rather than recurring revenues, for its primary
sources of cash since inception.

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Pathnet, Inc. and its wholly owned
subsidiaries, Pathnet/Idaho Power License, LLC, Pathnet Fiber Optics, LLC and Pathnet/Idaho Power

Equipment, LLC. All material intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in
consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reported period. The estimates involve judgments with respect to, among other
things, various future factors which are difficult to predict and are beyond the control of the Company.
Actual amounts could differ from these estimates.

Loss Per Share

Basic earnings (loss) per share is computed by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted
average number of shares of Common Stock outstanding during the applicabie period. Diluted earnings
(loss} per share is computed by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted average common and
potentially dilutive common equivalent shares outstanding during the applicable period. For each of the
periods presented, basic and diluted loss per share are the same. The exercise of 2,675,597 employee
Common Stock options, the exercise of warrants to purchase 1,116,500 shares of Common Stock, and
the conversion of 5,470,595 shares of Series A, B and C convertible preferred stock into 15,864,715
shares of Common Stock as of December 31, 1999, which could potentially dilute basic earnings per
share in the future, were not included in the computation of diluted loss per share for the periods
presented because to do so would have been antidilutive in each case.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company believes that the carrying amount of certain of its financial instruments, which
include cash equivalents and accounts payable, approximate fair value due to the relatively short
maturity of these instruments.  As of December 31, 1999, the fair value of the Company’s 12 %%
Senior Notes was approximately $220.5 million.

Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid instruments with an original maturity of three months
or less to be cash equivalents,

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments which potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk
consist of cash and cash equivalents, marketable securities and associated interest receivable, note
receivable, and restricted cash. Marketable securities and associated interest receivable include U.S.
Treasury securities and debt securities of U.S. Government agencies, certificates of deposit and money
market funds, and corporate debt securities. The Company has invested its excess cash in a money
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. PATHNET, INC. AND SUBSIDIAQS
A DEVELOPMENT STAGE ENTERPRISE
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)

market fund with a commercial bank. The money market fund is collateralized by the underlying assets
of the fund. The Company's restricted cash is maintained in an escrow account {(see note 7) at a major
bank. The Company has not experienced any losses on its cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash.

Marketable Securities

Management determines the appropriate classification of its investments in marketable securities
at the time of purchase and reevaluates such determinations at each balance sheet date. Debt securities
are classified as held to maturity when the Company has the positive intent and ability to hold the
securities to maturity. The Company has classified certain securities as held to maturity pursuant to a
pledge agreement. Held to maturity securities are stated at amortized cost. Debt securities for which the
Company does not have the intent or ability to hold to maturity are classified as available for sale, along
with any investments in equity securities. Securities are classified as current or noncurrent based on the
maturity date. Securities available for sale are carried at fair value based on quoted market prices at the
balance sheet date, with unrealized gains and losses reported as part of accumulated other comprehensive
income {loss).

The amortized cost of debt securities is adjusted for amortization of premiums and accretion of
discounts to maturity. Such amortization and interest are included in interest income or expense.
Realized gains and losses are included in other income (expense), net in the consolidated statements of
operations. The cost of securities sold is based on the specific identification method. The Company's
investments in debt and equity securities are diversified among high credit quality securities in
accordance with the Company's investment policy.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment, consisting of network in progress, communications network, office and
computer equipment, furniture and fixtures and leasehold improvements, is stated at cost. Network in
progress costs incurred during development, including interest, are capitalized. Depreciation of the
completed communications network commences when the network equipment is ready for its intended
use and is computed using the straight-line method with estimated useful Jives of network assets ranging
between three to twenty years. Depreciation of the office and computer equipment and furniture and
fixtures is computed using the straight-line method, generally over three to five years, based upon
estimated useful lives, commencing when the assets are available for service. Leasehold improvements
are amortized over the lesser of the useful lives of the assets or the lease term. Expenditures for
maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred. When assets are retired or disposed, the cost and the
related accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts, and any resulting gain or loss is
recognized in operations for the period.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company periodically evaluates the recoverability of its long-lived assets. This evaluation
consists of a comparison of the carrying value of the assets with the assets' expected future cash flows,
undiscounted and without interest costs. Estimates of expected future cash flows represent
management's best estimate based on reasonable and supportable assumptions and projections. If the
expected future cash flow, undiscounted and without interest charges, exceeds the carrying value of the
asset, no impairment is recognized. Impairment losses are measured as the difference between the
carrying value of long-lived assets and their fair value.
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. PATHNET, INC. AND SUBSIDIAQS
A DEVELOPMENT STAGE ENTERPRISE
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)

Deferred Income Taxes

The Company uses the liability method of accounting for income taxes. Deferred income taxes
result from temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their financial
reporting amounts at each year-end, based on enacted laws and statutory tax rates applicable to the
periods in which the differences are expected to affect taxable income. Valuation allowances are
established when necessary, to reduce net deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be realized. The
provision for income taxes consists of the Company's current provision for federal and state income
taxes and the change in the Company's net deferred tax assets and liabilities during the period.

Revenue Recognition

The Company earns revenue from the sale of telecommunications capacity and for project
management and consulting services. Revenue from the sale of telecommunications capacity is earned
when the service is provided. Revenue for project management and consulting services is recognized
over the related project period as milestones are achieved. The Company defers revenue when
contractual payments are received in advance of the performance of services.

Revenue from the sale of telecommunications capacity includes revenue earned under
indefeasible right to use agreements. The Company recognizes revenue earned under such agreements
on a straight-line basis over their term.

Deferred Financing Costs

The Company has incurred costs related to the Debt Offering together with costs associated with
obtaining future debt financing arrangements. Such costs are amortized over the term of the debt or
financing arrangement other than when financing has not been obtained, in which case, the costs are
expensed immediately.

Segment Reporting

In June 1997, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued SFAS No.131, "Disclosures
About Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information”(SFAS No. 131). SFAS No. 131 changes the
way public companies report segment information in annuai financial statements and also requires those
companies to report selected segment information in interim financial reports to stockholders. It also
establishes standards for related disclosures about products and services, geographic areas, and major
customers. Management believes the Company's current operations comprise only one segment, the sale
of telecommunications capacity, and as such, adoption of SFAS No. 131 does not impact the disclosures
made in the Company's financial statements.




. PATHNET, INC. AND SUBSIDIA]QS
A DEVELOPMENT STAGE ENTERPRISE
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)

3. MARKETABLE SECURITIES

The Company's marketable securities are considered “available for sale,” and, as such, are stated
at market value. The net unrealized gains and losses on marketable securities are reported as part of
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). Realized gains or losses from the sale of marketable
securities are based on the specific identification method.

The following is a summary of the investments in marketable securities at December 31, 1999:

Gross Unrealized

Caost Gains Losses Market Value
Available for sale securities:
U.S. Treasury securities and debt securities
of U.S. Government agencies $ 19363417 $ - § 59490 $ 19,303,927
Corporate debt securities 26,959,695 8.800 30,088 26,938,407
Debt Securities issued by foreign
governments 1,507,422 - 9,462 1,497,960

$ 478305343 8800 $§ 99.040 § 47,740.294

Gross realized gains on sales of available for sale securities were approximately $158,000 during
the year ended December 31, 1998. Gross realized gains and gross realized losses on sales of available
for sale securities were immaterial during the year ended December 31, 1998.

The amortized cost and market value of available for sale securities by contractual maturity at
December 31, 1999 is as follows:

Cost Market Value
Due in one year or less $ 42,688,416 $ 42,651,835
Due after one year through two years 5,142,118 5,088,459

$ 47830534 $ 47,740,294

Expected maturities may differ from contractual maturities because the issuers of the securities
may have the right to prepay obligations without prepayment penaities.

In addition to marketable securities, the Company has investments in pledged marketable
securities that are pledged as collateral for repayment of interest on the Company’s Senior Notes through
April 2000 (see note 8) and are classified as non-current assets on the consolidated balance sheet. As
of December 31, 1999, pledged marketable securities consisted of U.S. Treasury securities classified as
held to maturity with an amortized cost of approximately $20.8 million, interest receivable on pledged
marketable securities of approximately $356,000 and cash and cash equivalents of approximately
$112,000. All of the investments contractually mature by March 31, 2000.
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4. NOTE RECEIVABLE

In 1998, under the terms of a promissory note with an incumbent, the Company agreed to
advance up to $10.0 million principal for the purpose of funding the incumbent’'s equipment
expenditures under a Fixed Point Microwave Services agreement. Equipment expenditures initially
incurred by the Company were recharged at cost to the incumbent as principal under the promissory note.
The principal amount of the promissory note was paid during 1999.

5. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment, stated at cost, is comprised of the following at December 31, 1999 and

1998:
1999 1998

Network in progress $ 63,123,322 $ 38,669,088
Communications network 71,604,029 6,890,686
Office and computer equipment 2,262,934 2,267,647
Furniture and fixtures 1,555,771 766,013
Leasehold improvements 337.181 166,733

138,883,237 48,760,167
Less: accumulated depreciation (6,954,872} (788.831)
Property and equipment, net $131,928.365 $ 47971336

Network in progress includes (i) all direct material and labor costs together with related allocable
interest costs, necessary to construct components of a high capacity digital wireless and fiber optic
network, and (ii} network related inventory parts and equipment. The network in progress balance as
of December 31, 1999 includes approximately $36.8 million for costs incurred under the Company’s
agreement with WFI to construct a digital fiber optic network and $2.7 million for a right of use under
an agreement with Northern Border Pipeline for microwave access. When a portion of the network has
been completed and made available for use by the Company, the accumulated costs are transferred from
network in progress to communications network and depreciated

6. DEFERRED FINANCING COSTS

During 1998, the Company incurred total issuance costs of approximately $11.3 million in
connection with the Debt Offering. For the year ended December 31, 1999 and 1998, amortization of
the costs of approximately $1.1 million and $843,000 was charged to interest expense, respectively.

1. RESTRICTED CASH

Restricted cash comprises amounts held in escrow to collateralize the Company’s obligations
under certain of its development agreements. The funds in each escrow account are available only to
fund the projects to which the escrow is related. Generally, funds are released from escrow to pay project
costs as incurred. During the year ended December 31, 1999, the Company deposited approximately
$13.4 million in escrow and $7.7 million was released from escrow. During the year ended December
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31, 1998, the Company deposited approximately $10.3 million in escrow and no funds were released
from escrow.

8. LONG-TERM DEBT

During 1998, the Company completed the Debt Offering for total gross proceeds of
$350.0 million less total issuance costs of approximately $11.3 million. Upon issuance, approximately
$345.9 million of the gross proceeds was allocated to the Senior Notes and approximately $4.1 million
was allocated to the Warrants based upon estimated fair values. The Warrants expire on April 15, 2008.
The estimated value attributed to the Warrants has been recorded as a discount on the face value of the
Senior Notes and as additional paid-in capital. This discount is amortized as an increase to interest
expense and the carrying value of the debt over the related term using the interest method. The Company
has recorded approximately $410,000 and $307,000 of expense for the years ended December 31, 1999
and 1998, respectively, related to the amortization of this discount. Interest on the Senior Notes accrues
at an annual rate of 12% %, payable semiannually, in arrears, beginning October 15, 1998, with principal
due in full on April 15, 2008. For the years ended December 31, 1999 and 1998, interest on the Senior
Notes was approximately $42.9 million and $31.3 million, respectively, of which approximately
$3.6 miilion and $362,000, respectively, was capitalized as network under development. The Company
used approximately $81.1 million of the proceeds related to the Debt Offering to purchase U.S.
Government debt securities, which are restricted and pledged as collateral for repayment of all interest
due on the Senior Notes through April 15, 2000. The Senior Notes are redeemable, in whole or part, at
any time on or after April 15, 2003 at the option of the Company, at the following redemption prices plus
accrued and unpaid interest (i) on or after April 15, 2003; 106% of the principal amount, (ii) on or after
April 15, 2004; 104% of the principal amount, (iii) on or after April 15, 2005; 102% of the principal
amount and (iv) on or after April 15, 2006; 100% of the principal amount. In addition, at any time prior
to April 15, 2001, the Company may redeem within sixty days, with the net cash proceeds of one or more
public equity offerings, up to 35% of the aggregate principal amount of the Senior Notes at a redemption
price equal to 112.25% of the principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest provided that at least
65% of the original principal amount of the Senior Notes remain outstanding. Upon a change in control,
as defined, each holder of the Senior Notes may require the Company to repurchase all or a portion of
such holder's Senior Notes at a purchase price of cash equal to 101% of the principal amount plus
accrued and unpaid interest and liquidated damages if any.

The Senior Notes contain certain covenants which restrict the activities of the Company
including limitations of indebtedness, restricted payments, issuances and sales of capital stock, affiliate
transactions, liens, guarantees, sale of assets and dividends.

9. CAPITAL STOCK TRANSACTIONS

Common Stock

The initial capitalization of the Company, on August 25, 1995, occurred through the issuance by

the Company of 1,450,000 shares of voting common stock and 1,450,000 shares of non-voting commeon
stock. ‘
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On May 8, 1998, the Company filed a Registration Statement with the Securities and Exchange
Commission for an initial public offering of common stock (Initial Public Offering). The Company
subsequently postponed the Initial Public Offering. In relation to the postponement of the Initial Public
Offering, the Company wrote off approximately $1.4 million in expenses, consisting primarily of legal
and accounting fees, printing costs, and Securities and Exchange Commission and Nasdag Stock Market
fees. On July 24, 1998, the Company's stockholders approved a 2.9-for-1 stock split which was effected
on August 3, 1998, the record date. All share information has been adjusted for this stock split for all
periods presented.

Preferred Stock

As part of its initial capitalization on August 25, 1995, the Company initiated a private offering
of 1,000,000 shares of Series A convertible preferred stock for $1,000,000. Pursuant to the terms of the
Investment and Stockholders’ Agreement by and among the Company and certain stockholders of the
Company (Investment and Stockholders’ Agreement), the offering closed in two phases of $500,000
each. As of the signing of the Investment and Stockholders' Agreement, the Company received $500,000,
representing the first closing on this offering in 1995. In addition, the offering provided for a convertible
bridge loan in the amount of $1,000,000. The bridge loan carried an interest rate of 12% per annum and
was due and payable in full on the earlier to occur of the anniversary date of the bridge loan issuance or
the closing date of the Company's next equity financing. The bridge loan was converted into Series B
preferred stock at 73% of the price of the Series B convertible preferred stock issued in the next equity
financing.

In February 1996, the Company issued 500,000 shares of Series A convertible preferred stock
to the original investors in exchange for $500,000, representing the second closing under the Investment
and Stockholders’ Agreement. In August 1996, the Company drew $700,000 on a bridge loan with the
original investors.

On December 23, 1996, the Company consummated a private offering of 609,756 shares of
Series B convertible preferred stock for $2,000,000 less issuance costs of $25000 pursuant to the
Investment and Stockholders’ Agreement. In addition, simultaneously, the $700,000 bridge loan plus
$33,367 of accrued interest was converted into 306,242 shares of Series B convertible preferred stock.
The Company recognized $271,107 of interest expense to account for the beneficial conversion feature
of the bridge loan. In addition, $300,000 representing the committed but undrawn portion of the bridge
loan, was paid to the Company for the sale of 125,292 shares of Series B convertible preferred stock at
a discounted rate. The Company recognized $110,883 of interest expense to account for the beneficial
conversion feature of the committed but undrawn bridge loan. On June 18, 1997, pursuant to the
Investment and Stockholders’ Agreement, the Company received an additional $2,000,000 in a second
closing in exchange for 609,756 shares of Series B convertible preferred stock. There were no issuance
costs associated with the second closing.

On October 31, 1997, pursuant to the Investment and Stockholders’ Agreement, the Company
consummated a private offering of 939,850 shares of Series C convertible preferred stock for
approximately $10 million, less issuance costs of $38,780. On April 8, 1998, pursuant to the Investment
and Stockholders’ Agreement, the Company consummated a second closing of 1,879,699 shares of
Series C convertible preferred stock for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $20.0 million.
There were no issuance costs associated with the second closing.
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Each share of Series A, Series B and Series C convertible preferred stock entitles each holder to
a number of votes per share equal to the number of shares of Common Stock into which each share of
Series A, Series B and Series C convertible preferred stock is currently convertible.

The holders of the Series A, Series B and Series C convertible preferred stock are entitled to
receive dividends in preference to and at the same rate as dividends are paid with respect to the common
stock. In the event of any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, whether voluntary or
involuntary, holders of each share of Series A, Series B and Series C convertible preferred stock
outstanding are entitled to be paid before any payment shall be made to the holders of any class of
common stock or any stock ranking on liquidation junior to the convertible preferred stock, an amount,
in cash, equal to the original purchase price paid by such holder plus any declared but unpaid dividends.

In the event the assets of the Company are insufficient to pay liquidation preference amounts,
then all of the assets available for distribution shall be distributed pro rata so that each holder receives
that portion of the assets available for distribution as the number of shares of convertible preferred stock
held by such holder bears to the total number of shares of convertible preferred stock then outstanding.

Shares of the Series A, Series B, and Series C convertible preferred stock may be converted at
any time, at the option of the holder, into voting common stock. The number of shares of voting common
stock entitled upon conversion is the quotient obtained by dividing the face value of the Series A, Series
B and Series C convertible preferred stock by the Applicable Conversion Rate, defined as the Applicable
Conversion Value of $0.34, $1.13 or $3.67 per share, respectively.

Each share of convertible preferred stock shall automatically be converted into the number of
shares of voting common stock which such shares are convertible upon application of the Applicable
Conversion Rate immediately upon the closing of a qualified underwritten public offering covering the
offer and sale of capital stock which is defined as: (i) the Company is valued on a pre-meney basis at
greater than $50,000,000, (ii) the gross proceeds received by the Company exceed $20,000,000, and (iii)
the Company uses a nationally recognized underwriter approved by holders of a majority interest of the
Series A, Series B and Series C convertible preferred stock voting together.

If the Company issues any additional shares of common stock of any class at a price less than the
Applicable Conversion Value, in effect for the Series A, Series B or Series C convertible preferred stock
immediately prior to such issuance or sale, then the Applicable Conversion Value shall be adjusted
accordingly.

In the event a qualified public offering has not occurred prior to December 23, 2000, the holder
of shares of Series A or Series B preferred stock can require the Company to redeem the shares of Series
A and Series B convertible preferred stock. After receipt from any one holder of an election to have any
shares redeemed, the Company is required to send a notice to the Series A and Series B preferred
stockholders on December 24, 2000 of the redemption price. If after sending the redemption notice to
Series A and Series B preferred stockhalders, the Company receives requests for redemption on or prior
to January 11, 2001, from the holders of at least 67% of the Series A and Series B convertible preferred
stock taken together, the Company must redeem all shares of Series A and Series B convertible preferred
stock. Payment of the redemption price is due on January 23, 2001, for a cash price equal to the original
purchase price paid by such holders for each share of Series A and Series B convertible preferred stock
as adjusted for any stock split, stock distribution or stock dividends with respect to such shares. The
successful completion of a qualified public offering is not within the control of the Company. Therefore,
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the Company does not present the Series A and Series B preferred stock as a component of stockholders'
equity.

In the event that a qualified public offering has not occurred prior to November 3, 2001, the
holder of shares of Series C preferred stock can require the Company to redeem the shares of Series C
convertible preferred stock. After receipt from any one holder of an election to have any shares
redeemed, the Company is required to send a notice to the Series C preferred stockholders on November
4, 2001 of the redemption price. If after sending the redemption notice to Series C preferred
stockholders, the Company receives requests for redemption on or prior to November 21, 2001, from
the holders of at least 67% of the Series C convertible preferred stock, the Company must redeem all
shares of Series C convertible preferred stock. Payment of the redemption price is due on December 3,
2001 for a cash price equal to the original purchase price paid by such holders for each share of Series
C convertible preferred stock as adjusted for any stock split, stock distribution or stock dividends with
respect to such shares. The successful completion of a qualified public offering is not within the control
of the Company. Therefore, the Company does not present the Series C preferred stock as a component
of stockholders' equity.

Notwithstanding the provisions for optional redemption described above, pursuant to a Consent
Waiver and Amendment effective March 24, 1998 among the Company and certain stockholders of the
Company, the holders of the Series A, Series B and Series C convertible preferred stock agreed that no
optional redemption of the Series A, Series B or Series C convertible preferred stock may be made by
the Company prior to 90 days after (i) the final maturity dated of the Senior Notes (ii) or such earlier date
(after the redemption date specified for such preferred stock) as the Senior Notes shall be paid in full.

10. STOCK OPTIONS

On August 25, 1995, the Company adopted the 1995 Stock Option Plan (1995 Plan), under
which incentive stock options and non-qualified stock options could be granted to the Company's
employees and certain other persons and entities in accordance with law. The Compensation Committee,
which administers the 1995 Plan, determined the number of options granted, the vesting period and the
exercise price of each award made under the 1995 Plan. The 1995 Plan will terminate August 28, 2005
unless terminated earlier by the Board of Directors. During 1998, the Compensation Committee
determined that no further awards would be granted under the 1995 Plan.

Options granted to date under the 1995 Plan generally vest over a three year period and expire
either 30 days after termination of employment or 10 years after date of grant. As of December 31, 1999,
a total of 70,731 non-qualified stock options and 353,662 incentive stock options were issued and
outstanding at an exercise price of $0.03 per share, an amount estimated to equal or exceed the per share
fair value of the common stock at the time of grant. As of December 31, 1999, the options issued at an
exercise price of $0.03 had a weighted average contractual life of 5.7 years. As of December 31, 1998,
424,393 of the options issued at an exercise price of $0.03 were exercisable.

On August 1, 1997, the Company adopted the 1997 Stock Incentive Plan (1997 Plan), under
which incentive stock options, non-qualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock,
performance awards and certain other types of awards may be granted to the Company’s employees and
certain other persons and entities in accordance with the law. To date, only non-qualified stock options
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have been granted under the 1997 Plan. The Compensation Committee, which administers the 1997
Plan, determines the number of options granted, the vesting period and the exercise price of each award
granted under the 1997 Plan. The 1997 Plan will terminate July 31, 2007 unless earlier terminated by
the Board of Directors.

Options granted under the 1997 Plan generally vest over a three to seven year period and expire:
(1) ten years after the date of grant. (2) two years after the date of the participant's termination without
cause, disability or death, (3) three months after the date of the participant's resignation, (4) on the date
of the participant's termination with cause or (5) on the date of any material breach of any confidentiality
or non-competition covenant or agreement entered into between the participant and the Company.

The options issued on October 31, 1997, at $3.67, vest on October 31, 2004 provided, however
(i} if the Company has met 80% of its revenue and Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and
Amortization (EBITDA) budget for the calendar year ended December 31, 1998, which budget is
approved by the Board of Directors of the Company, 50% of the shares covered by the options shall vest
and become exercisable on January 1, 1999, {ii) if the Company has met 80% of its revenue and
EBITDA budget for the calendar year ended December 31, 1999, which budget is approved by the Board
of Directors of the Company, the remaining 50% of the shares covered by the options shall vest and
become exercisable on January 1, 2000, and (iii) in the event that the first 50% of the shares covered by
the options did not vest on January 1, 1999 as set forth in (i} above and the Company not only meets
80% of its revenue and EBITDA budget for the year ended December 31, 1999 but exceeds 80% of its
revenue and EBITDA budget for the year ended December 31, 1999, which budget is approved by the
Board of Directors of the Company, in an amount at least equal to the deficiency that occurred in the
year ended December 31, 1998, 100% of the shares covered by the options shall vest and become
exercisable on January 1, 2000. Unvested and uncancelled options issued at $3.67 immediately become
fully vested and exercisable upon a change of control or a qualified public offering, as defined in the
option agreement. In an agreement dated November 4, 1999, 107,389 options became fully vested at
$3.67 per share and the remaining options were cancelled.

The options issued at $1.13 vest ratably over three or four consecutive years subject to certain
acceleration provisions set forth in an employment agreement such as the immediate vesting upon a
change in control or a qualified initial public offering. Under certain circumstances and subject to the
terms of the Senior Notes, upon the election of the employee upon termination of employment, the
Company will be required to pay the employee the fair value of the vested options held on the date of
such termination.

As of December 31, 1999, a total of 2,251,204 non-qualified options were issued and
outstanding, 1,119,957 at an exercise price of $1.13 per share, 197,110 at an exercise price of $3.67 per
share and 934,137 at an exercise price of $5.20 per share. As of December 31, 1999, a total of 376,785
non-qualified options were exercisable, 761,921 at an exercise price of $1.13 per share, 129,818 at an
exercise price of $3.67 per share and 85,046 at an exercise price of $5.20 per share. As of December
31, 1999, the weighted average contractual life of the optlons issued at $1.13, $3.67 and $5.20 was 7.7,
8.1 and 9.2 years, respectively.

During the year ended December 31, 1998, 667,373, 89,721 and 350,000 options were issued
at an exercise price of $1.13, $3.67 and $5.20 per share, respectively. The estimated fair value of the
Company's underlying common stock in each case was determined to be $1.99, $16.00 and $5.20 per
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share, respectively. Accordingly, the Company calculated deferred compensation expense of
approximately $1.7 million related to these options to be recognized as compensation expense over their
vesting period. The compensation expense recognized during the years ended December 31, 1999 and
1998 was approximately $536,000 and $701,000, respectively.

During the year ended December 31, 1999, 726,450 options were issued at an exercise price of
$5.20 per share representing the estimated fair value of the Company's underlying common stock.

Stock option activity was as follows:

1995 Plan 1997 Plan

Nen- Non- Weighted

Incentive  Qualified Qualified Average
Stock Stack Stock Exercise

Options  Options  Price Options Price Price

Options outstanding, December 31, 1996 424,395 77805 $ 0.034 - - $ 0.034
Granted - - - 1,289,167 $1.13-$3.67 $ 1.980
Exercised - - - - - -

Canceled - -- -- --

Options outstanding, December 31, 1997 424,395 77,805 $0.034 1,289,167 $1.13-$3.67 ¥ 1.430

Options granted -- -- - 1,107,094 $1.13-85.20 § 2622
Options exercised - (2,358)  $0.034 -- - -
Options cancelled -- (4716) $0.034 {5,554} $1.13-35.20 § 3.145

Options outstanding at December 31, 1998 424,395 70,731 $0.034 2,390,707 $1.13-$5.20 § 1.888

Options granted - -- - 726,450 $5.20 $5.2000
Options exercised (70,733) - $0.034 (95,127} $0.03-51.13 $0.6609
Options cancelled = o - (770,826) $1.13-85.20 $2.9313

Options outstanding at December 31, 1999 353,662 .]'_Q.13_1 $0.034 2251.204 $1.13-$5.20 $2.5636

The Company measures compensation expense for its employee stock-based compensation using
the intrinsic value method and provides pro forma disclosures of net loss as if the fair value method had
been applied in measuring compensation expense. Under the intrinsic value method of accounting for
stock-based compensation, when the exercise price of options granted to employees is less than the fair
value of the underlying stock on the date of grant, compensation expense is to be recognized over the
applicable vesting period.
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Year Ended December 31,
1999 1998 1997

Net loss as reported $59,036,312  $36,296,596 $3,977,400
Pro forma net loss $59,222,962 $36,859,594 $3,978.164
Basic and diluted net loss per

share as reported. _ $(20.14) $(12.51) $(1.37)
Pro forma basic and diluted net

loss per share $(20.20) $(12.70) $(1.37)

The fair value of each option is estimated on the date of grant using a type of Black-Scholes
option pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions used for grants during the years
ended December 31, 1998 and 1997, respectively: dividend yield of 0%, expected volatility of 0%, risk-
free interest rate of 5.18 % and 6.55% and expected terms of 5.5 and 5.0 years. The following weighted
average assumptions were used for grants during the year ended December 31, 1999: dividend yield of
0%, expected volatility of 0%, risk-free interest rate of 5.16% and expected terms of 5.8 years.

As of December 31, 1999 and 1998, the weighted average remaining contractual life of the
options is 7.9 years and 8.6 years, respectively.

11. VENDOR AGREEMENTS

Pursuant to a Master Agreement entered into by the Company and NEC on August 8, 1997, as
amended, the Company has the option to acquire, by March 31, 2003, a total of $200 million worth of
certain equipment, services and licensed software to be used by the Company in its network under
pricing and payment terms that the Company believes are favorable. In addition, NEC has agreed,
subject to certain conditions, to warranty equipment purchased by the Company from NEC for three
years, if defective, to repair or replace certain equipment promptly and to maintain a stock of critical
spare parts for up to 15 years. The Company's agreement with NEC provides for fixed prices during the
first three years of its term.  As of December 31, 1999, the Company had purchased $51.9 million of
equipment under this agreement.

Pursuant to a supply agreement entered into by the Company and Lucent Technologies (Lucent)
on December 18, 1998, the Company agreed that Lucent should be its exclusive supplier of fiber optic
cable for its nationwide, voice and data network. Lucent may provide financing of up to approximately
$400 million of fiber purchases for the construction of the Company’s network and may provide or
arrange financing for future phases of the fiber portion of the Company’s network. The total amount of
financing over the life of this seven-year agreement is not to exceed $1.8 billion. Certain materiai terms
of the Company’s transactions with Lucent are currently under review by Lucent and the Company.
There can be no assurance that the financing contemplated by the supply agreement will be
consummated or, if consummated, consummated on the terms and conditions described above. The
supply agreement provides that Lucent will provide the Company with a broad level of support,
including fiber optic equipment, network planning and design, technical and marketing support, and
financing.  As of December 31, 1999, no purchases were made by the Company under this agreement.
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12. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The Company maintains office space in Washington, D.C., Virginia, Kansas and Texas. The
most significant leases relate to the Company's new headquarters facilities in Reston Virginia and in
Washington, D.C.

On December 30, 1998, the Company entered into a lease agreement for the lease of tower site
space, sufficient to perform its obligations under a fixed point microwave agreement (FPMA) with an
incumbent. Under the terms of the lease, the Company is obligated to rent of $130,000 per month for
a period expiring on the later of (i) the expiration of the FPMA as to that site, or (ii) ten years from the
effective date of the agreement. The agreement provides for an increase in the rent payable commencing
on December 1, 1999 and on each succeeding year thereafter to December 1, 2008, by an amount equal
to 4 percent of the rent then in effect.

The Company's future minimum rental payments under noncancellable operating leases are as
follows:

2000 $ 3,388,583
2001 3,216,376
2002 3,284,920
2003 3,205,368
2004 and thereafter 19,097,648
Total $ 32192895

Rent expense for the years ended December 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997 was approximately
$821,000, $390,000 and $115,000, respectively.

The Company earns microwave telecommunication capacity revenue under an indefeasible right
of use (IRU) agreement dated December 1, 1998, of $137,000 per month commencing December 1998
and expiring on the later of (i) the expiration of the FPMA as to that site, or (ii) ten years from the
effective date of the agreement. The IRU agreement provides for an increase in the rent receivable
commencing on December 1, 1999 and on each succeeding year thereafter to December 1, 2008, by an
amount equal to 4 percent of the rent then in effect.

As of December 31, 1999, the Company had capital commitments of approximately
$89.9 million relating to purchases of telecommunication and transmission equipment and its agreement
with WFI, Tri-States and CapRock (see note 14}.

From time to time, the Company is subject to claims arising in the ordinary course of business.
In the opinion of management, no such matter individuaily or in aggregate, exists which is expected to
have a material effect on the results of operations, cash flows or financial position of the Company.

13. INCOME TAXES

The tax effect of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the net deferred
tax asset at December 31, 1999 and 1998, is as follows:
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December 31,

1999 1998
Deferred revenue L3 3646 § 949
Capitalized start-up costs 1,005,353 1,370,937
Capitalized research and development costs 48,482 66,111
Depreciation {2,844,859) --
Net operating loss carryforward 40.571,930 15,325,484
Other timing differences 110,078 -
38,804,630 16,763,481
Less valuation allowance (38.894.630) (16,763.481)
Net deferred tax asset $ - 3 =

Capitalized costs represent expenses incurred in the organization and start-up of the Company.
For federal income tax purposes, these costs are being amartized over sixty maonths.

The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable
income in the periods in which those temporary differences are deductible. The Company has provided
a valuation allowance against its deferred tax assets as they are long-term in nature and their ultimate
realization cannot be determined.

14. FIBER AGREEMENTS

In March 1999, the Company entered into a co-development agreement with WFI for the design,
engineering and construction by WFI of a multiple conduit fiber-optic system. One of the conduits will
contain a fiber optic cable consisting of a specified number of fiber optic strands. The conduits and any
installed strands will be equally divided between the parties, and the cost to construct the route will be
shared equally by the Company and WF1. In addition, the Company will pay WF] a management fee
equal to 10% of the Company's share of the development costs. The total shared projected costs for the
project is in excess of $100 million. The system will be approximately 1,100 route miles long, between
Aurora, Colorado (a suburb of Denver) and Chicago, Hllinois. The first segment, Chicago, Illinois to
Omaha, Nebraska, was completed in the fourth quarter 1999, and the second segment, Omaha to Aurora,
is scheduled to be completed by the end of the second quarter of 2000. In connection with the co-
development agreement, the Company entered into a joint marketing agreement with WFI under which
both WF1 and the Company will attempt to sell certain inactive fiber optic strands on the route, and will
share the revenues from such sales. The joint marketing agreement also permits each party to retain fiber
optic strands for its own use, subject to-certain restrictions on resale, and to swap a certain number of
the fiber optic strands to third parties.

In August 1999, the Company entered into a co-development agreement with Tri-States and four
regional electric cooperatives for our design, engineering and construction of an aerial fiber system,
approximately 420 route miles long, between Albuquerque, New Mexico and Grand Junction, Colorado.

This system, constructed on power transmission lines, will contain a specified number of fiber optic
strands. The cost to construct the system will be borne equally between the Company and the other
parties. The total projected combined cost for this route is approximately $48 million. In connection
with the co-development agreement, the Company entered into a joint marketing agreement under which
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each party will reserve a portion of the fiber strands for its own operations, a subset of which will be
available for swaps with third parties, the remaining fiber strands will be jointly sold, with the Company
as the exclusive marketing agent.

Any revenues derived from the sale of those fiber strands will be shared equally between the
Company and Tri-states, after deduction of a Company marketing fee. We expect this system to be
completed in the second half of 2000.

In December 1999, the Company announced a co-development agreement with Caprock to
construct a multi-conduit, fiber network between Albuquerque, New Mexico and El Paso, Texas. The
total projected cost for this 350 mile network segment is approximately $40 million with a scheduled
completion date of year-end 2000.

15. CONTRIBUTION AND REORGANIZATION

On November 4, 1999, the Company, together with Pathnet Telecommunications Inc. (PTI) a
Delaware company formed on November 1, 1999, entered into agreements providing for strategic
investments from Colonial Pipeline Company, Burlington Northern and Santa Fe Corporation and CSX
Corporation to PTIL. Upon the closing of this transaction, PTI will receive the right to develop over
12,000 miles of the investors' rights of way with an estimated value of $187.0 million in return for
8,511,607 shares of PTTs Series D convertible preferred stock. In addition to providing a portion of the
right of way access, Colonial Pipeline will pay $68.0 million of cash to PTI comprised of $38.0 million
at the initial closing for 1,729,631 shares of PTI's Series E redeemable preferred stock, $25.0 million for
1,137,915 shares of PTT's Series E redeemable preferred stock (upon the completion of a fiber optic
network segment build that the Company expects to complete during the second calendar quarter of
2000), $1.0 million for the issuance of an option to purchase 1,593,082 shares of PTI's Series E
redeemable preferred stock for $21.97 per share and shares of PTI's common stock in connection with
an initial public offering and $4.0 million for rights in 2,200 conduit miles of our future network.
Further, upon the closing of this transaction, all of the Company's common stock will be exchanged for
common stock of PTI resulting in the Company becoming a wholly-owned subsidiary of PTL In
addition, all of the Company's 5,470,535 shares of mandatorily redeemable preferred stock will be
converted into 15,864,715 of PTT's convertible preferred stock. The new investors collectively will
receive an approximate one-third equity stake in PTI, as well as proportionate representation on the PTI
Board of Directors. As part of this transaction and the reconstitution of the Pathnet Board, Dave
Schaeffer, former Chairman of Pathnet and an existing director, resigned from the Company's Board of
Directors effective November 4, 1999.

The terms of the strategic investment transaction require that consents be obtained from the
holders of a majority of the Company's existing Senior Notes in exchange for a proposed payment of
approximately $8.8 million. As a result, on November 22, 1999, PTI filed a preliminary prospectus with
the Securities and Exchange Commission, to offer all holders of the Senior Notes a guarantee of the
obligations of the Company to make interest and principal payments. Concurrent with this offer, the
Company is seeking consents from the holders of the Senior Notes to the waiver and the amendment of
certain provisions of the Indenture. On February 22, 2000, the Company expects to file an amendment
to its preliminary prospectus with the Securities and Exchange Commission. The Company expects to
close this transaction immediately following receipt of the required consents and other required
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regulatory approvals. For the year ended December 31, 1999, the Company had expensed $1,022,998
of fees related to this transaction.
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